

SciPost Phys. 1(1), 001 (2016)

Quantum quenches to the attractive one-dimensional Bose gas: exact results

L. Piroli^{1*}, P. Calabrese¹, F.H.L. Essler²

1 SISSA and INFN, via Bonomea 265, 34136 Trieste, Italy.2 The Rudolf Peierls Centre for Theoretical Physics, Oxford University, Oxford, OX1 3NP, United Kingdom.

* lpiroli@sissa.it

Abstract

We study quantum quenches to the one-dimensional Bose gas with attractive interactions in the case when the initial state is an ideal one-dimensional Bose condensate. We focus on properties of the stationary state reached at late times after the quench. This displays a finite density of multi-particle bound states, whose rapidity distribution is determined exactly by means of the quench action method. We discuss the relevance of the multiparticle bound states for the physical properties of the system, computing in particular the stationary value of the local pair correlation function g_2 .

😇 🕛 Copyright L. Piroli <i>et al</i> .	Received 24-05-2016
This work is licensed under the Creative Commons	Accepted 01-09-2016
Attribution 4.0 International License.	Published 14-09-2016
Published by the SciPost Foundation.	doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.1.1.001
-	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	The Lieb-Liniger model	4
	2.1 The Hamiltonian and the eigenstates	4
	2.2 The thermodynamic limit	5
	2.3 The quench protocol	6
3	The quench action method	7
	3.1 General considerations	7
	3.2 Overlaps with the BEC state	8
4	Stationary state	9
	4.1 Saddle point equations	9
	4.2 Tri-diagonal form of the oTBA equations	9
	4.3 Asymptotic relations	10
5	Rapidity distribution functions for the stationary state	10
	5.1 Numerical analysis	10
	5.2 Perturbative expansion	11
	5.3 Exact solution	13

6	Physical properties of the stationary state	14
	6.1 Local pair correlation function	14
	6.2 Physical implications of the multi-particle bound states	17
7	Conclusions	19
A	Overlaps in the presence of zero-momentum <i>n</i> -strings	20
B	Tri-diagonal form of the coupled integral equations	20
	B.1 Tri-diagonal Bethe-Takahashi equations	20
	B.2 Tri-diagonal oTBA equations	22
С	Asymptotic behaviour	23
D	Perturbative analysis	24
E	Small γ limit for g_2	24
Re	References	

1 Introduction

Strongly correlated many-body quantum systems are often outside the range of applicability of standard perturbative methods. While being at the root of many interesting and sometimes surprising physical effects, this results in huge computational challenges, which are most prominent in the study of the non-equilibrium dynamics of many-body quantum systems. This active field of research has attracted increasing attention over the last decade, also due to the enormous experimental advances in cold atomic physics [1–3]. Indeed, highly isolated many-body quantum systems can now be realised in cold atomic laboratories, where the high experimental control allows to directly probe their unitary time evolution [4–13].

A simple paradigm to study the non-equilibrium dynamics of closed many-body quantum systems is that of a quantum quench [14]: a system is prepared in an initial state (usually the ground state of some Hamiltonian H_0) and it is subsequently time evolved with a local Hamiltonian H. In the past years, as a result of a huge theoretical effort (see the reviews [2, 15–21] and references therein), a robust picture has emerged: at long times after the quench, and in the thermodynamic limit, expectation values of *local* observables become stationary. For a generic system, these stationary values are those of a thermal Gibbs ensemble with the effective temperature being fixed by the energy density in the initial state [22].

A different behaviour is observed for integrable quantum systems, where an infinite set of local conserved charges constrains the non-equilibrium dynamics. In this case, long times after the quench, local properties of the systems are captured by a generalised Gibbs ensemble (GGE) [23], which is a natural extension of the Gibbs density matrix taking into account a complete set of local or quasi-local conserved charges.

The initial focus was on the role played by (ultra-)local conservation laws in integrable quantum spin chains [24–30], while more recent works have clarified the role by sets of novel, quasi-local charges [31–41]. It has been shown recently that they have to be taken into account in the GGE construction in order to obtain a correct description of local properties of the steady state [44,45]. Quasi-local conservation laws and their relevance for the GGE have also recently

been discussed in the framework of integrable quantum field theories [48, 49]. These works have demonstrated that the problem of determining a complete set of local or quasi-local conserved charges is generally non-trivial.

A different approach to calculating expectation values of local correlators in the stationary state was introduced in Ref. [50]. It is the so called quench action method (QAM), a.k.a. representative eigenstate approach and it does not rely on the knowledge of the conserved charges of the system. Within this method, the local properties at large times are effectively described by a single eigenstate of the post-quench Hamiltonian. The QAM has now been applied to a variety of quantum quenches, from one dimensional Bose gases [51–56] to spin chains [57–61] and integrable quantum field theories [62,63], see Ref. [20] for a recent review.

One of the most interesting aspects of non-equilibrium dynamics in integrable systems is the possibility of realising non-thermal, stable states of matter by following the unitary time evolution after a quantum quench. Indeed, the steady state often exhibits properties that are qualitatively different from those of thermal states of the post-quench Hamiltonian. The QAM provides a powerful tool to theoretically investigate these properties in experimentally relevant settings.

In this paper we study the quantum quench from an ideal Bose condensate to the Lieb-Liniger model with arbitrary attractive interactions. A brief account of our results was previously given in Ref. [56]. The interest in this quench lies in its experimental feasibility as well as in the intriguing features of the stationary state, which features finite densities of multiparticle bound states. Our treatment, based on the quench action method, allows us to study their dependence on the final interaction strength and discuss their relevance for the physical properties of the system. In particular, as a meaningful example, we consider the local pair correlation function g_2 , which we compute exactly.

The structure of the stationary state is very different from the super Tonks-Girardeau gas, which is obtained by quenching the one-dimensional Bose gas from infinitely repulsive to infinitely attractive interaction [64–70]. The super Tonks-Girardeau gas features no bound states, even though it is more strongly correlated than the infinitely repulsive Tonks-Girardeau gas, as has been observed experimentally [66]. As we argued in [56], the physical properties of the post-quench stationary state reached in our quench protocol could be probed in ultracold atoms experiments, and the multi-particle bound states observed by the presence of different"light-cones" in the spreading of local correlations following a local quantum quench [71].

In this work we present a detailed derivation of the results previously announced in Ref. [56]. The remainder of this manuscript is organised as follows. In section 2 we introduce the Lieb-Liniger model and the quench protocol that we consider. The quench action method is reviewed in section 3, and its application to our quench problem is detailed. In section 4 the equations describing the post-quench stationary state are derived. Their solution is then obtained in section 5, and a discussion of its properties is presented. In section 6 we address the calculation of expectation values of certain local operators on the post-quench stationary state, and we explicitly compute the local pair correlation function g_2 . Finally, our conclusions are presented in section 7. For the sake of clarity, some technical aspects of our work are consigned to several appendices.

2 The Lieb-Liniger model

2.1 The Hamiltonian and the eigenstates

We consider the Lieb-Liniger model [72], consisting of *N* interacting bosons on a one-dimensional ring of circumference *L*. The Hamiltonian reads

$$H_{LL}^{N} = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_j^2} + 2c \sum_{j < k} \delta(x_j - x_k), \qquad (1)$$

where *m* is the mass of the bosons, and $c = -\hbar^2/ma_{1D}$ is the interaction strength. Here a_{1D} is the 1D effective scattering length [73] which can be tuned via Feshbach resonances [74]. In the following we fix $\hbar = 2m = 1$. The second quantized form of the Hamiltonian is

$$H_{LL} = \int_0^L dx \Big\{ \partial_x \Psi^{\dagger}(x) \partial_x \Psi(x) + c \Psi^{\dagger}(x) \Psi^{\dagger}(x) \Psi(x) \Psi(x) \Big\},$$
(2)

where Ψ^{\dagger} , Ψ are complex bosonic fields satisfying $[\Psi(x), \Psi^{\dagger}(y)] = \delta(x - y)$.

The Hamiltonian (1) can be exactly diagonalised for all values of *c* using the Bethe ansatz method [42, 72]. Throughout this work we will consider the attractive regime c < 0 and use notations $\overline{c} = -c > 0$. We furthermore define a dimensionless coupling constant by

$$\gamma = \frac{\overline{c}}{D}, \quad D = \frac{N}{L}.$$
(3)

A general *N*-particle energy eigenstate is parametrized by a set of *N* complex rapidities $\{\lambda_j\}_{i=1}^N$, satisfying the following system of Bethe equations

$$e^{-i\lambda_j L} = \prod_{\substack{k\neq j\\k=1}}^N \frac{\lambda_k - \lambda_j - i\overline{c}}{\lambda_k - \lambda_j + i\overline{c}} , \quad j = 1, \dots, N .$$
(4)

The wave function of the eigenstate corresponding to the set of rapidities $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^N$ is then

$$\psi_N(x_1,\ldots,x_N|\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^N) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{P \in \mathscr{S}_N} e^{i\sum_j x_j \lambda_{P_j}} \prod_{j>k} \frac{\lambda_{P_j} - \lambda_{P_k} + i\bar{c}\operatorname{sgn}(x_j - x_k)}{\lambda_{P_j} - \lambda_{P_k}},$$
(5)

where the sum is over all the permutations of the rapidities. Eqns (4) can be rewritten in logarithmic form as

$$\lambda_j L - 2\sum_{k=1}^N \arctan\left(\frac{\lambda_j - \lambda_k}{\overline{c}}\right) = 2\pi I_j , \quad j = 1, \dots, N , \qquad (6)$$

where the quantum numbers $\{I_j\}_{j=1}^N$ are integer (half-odd integer) for N odd (even).

In the attractive regime the solutions of (6) organize themselves into mutually disjoint patterns in the complex rapidity plane called "strings" [75, 76]. For a given N particle state, we indicate with \mathcal{N}_s the total number of strings and with N_j the number of *j*-strings, i.e. the strings containing *j* particles ($1 \le j \le N$) so that

$$N = \sum_{j} j N_{j}, \qquad \mathcal{N}_{s} = \sum_{j} N_{j}.$$
(7)

The rapidities within a single *j*-string are parametrized as [87]

$$\lambda_{\alpha}^{j,a} = \lambda_{\alpha}^{j} + \frac{i\bar{c}}{2}(j+1-2a) + i\delta_{\alpha}^{j,a}, \quad a = 1, \dots, j,$$
(8)

where *a* labels the individual rapidities within the *j*-string, while α labels different strings of length *j*. Here λ_{α}^{j} is a real number called the string centre. The structure (8) is common to many integrable systems and within the so called string hypothesis [75, 77] the deviations from a perfect string $\delta_{\alpha}^{j,a}$ are assumed to be exponentially vanishing with the system size *L* (see Refs. [78, 79] for a numerical study of such deviations in the Lieb-Liniger model). A *j*-string can be seen to correspond to a bound state of *j* bosons: indeed, one can show that the Bethe ansatz wave function decays exponentially with respect to the distance between any two particles in the bound state and the *j* bosons can be thought as clustered together.

Even though some cases are known where states violating the string hypothesis are present [80–84], it is widely believed that their contribution to physically relevant quantities is vanishing in the thermodynamic limit. We will then always assume the deviations $\delta_{\alpha}^{j,a}$ to be exponentially small in *L* and neglect them except when explicitly said otherwise.

From (6), (8) a system of equations for the string centres λ_{α}^{j} is obtained [76]

$$j\lambda_{\alpha}^{j}L - \sum_{(k,\beta)} \Phi_{jk}(\lambda_{\alpha}^{j} - \lambda_{\beta}^{k}) = 2\pi I_{\alpha}^{j} , \qquad (9)$$

where

$$\Phi_{jk}(\lambda) = (1 - \delta_{jk})\phi_{|j-k|}(\lambda) + 2\phi_{|j-k|+2}(\lambda) + \dots + 2\phi_{j+k-2}(\lambda) + \phi_{j+k}(\lambda), \quad (10)$$

$$\phi_j(\lambda) = 2 \arctan\left(\frac{2\lambda}{j\overline{c}}\right), \qquad (11)$$

and where I_{α}^{j} are integer (half-odd integer) for *N* odd (even). Eqns (9) are called Bethe-Takahashi equations [75,85]. The momentum and the energy of a general eigenstate are then given by

$$K = \sum_{(j,\alpha)} j\lambda_{\alpha}^{j}, \qquad E = \sum_{(j,\alpha)} j(\lambda_{\alpha}^{j})^{2} - \frac{\bar{c}^{2}}{12} j(j^{2} - 1).$$
(12)

2.2 The thermodynamic limit

In the repulsive case the thermodynamic limit

$$N, L \to \infty$$
, $D = \frac{N}{L}$ fixed, (13)

was first considered in Ref. [86], and it is well studied in the literature. In the attractive case, the absolute value of the ground state energy in not extensive, but instead grows as N^3 [87,88]. While ground state correlation functions can be studied in the zero density limit, namely N fixed, $L \rightarrow \infty$ [76], it was argued that the model does not have a proper thermodynamic limit in thermal equilibrium [75, 88]. Crucially, in the quench protocol we are considering, the energy is fixed by the initial state and the limit of an infinite number of particles at fixed density presents no problem.

As the systems size *L* grows, the centres of the strings associated with an energy eigenstate become a dense set on the real line and in the thermodynamic limit are described by smooth distribution function. In complete analogy with the standard finite-temperature formalism [75] we introduce the distribution function $\{\rho_n(\lambda)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ describing the centres of *n* strings, and the distribution function of holes $\{\rho_n^h(\lambda)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$. We recall that $\rho_n^h(\lambda)$ describes the distribution

of unoccupied states for the centres of n-particle strings, and is analogous to the distribution of holes in the case of ideal Fermi gases at finite temperature. Following Takahashi [75] we introduce

$$\eta_n(\lambda) = \frac{\rho_n^h(\lambda)}{\rho_n(\lambda)},\tag{14}$$

$$\rho_n^t(\lambda) = \rho_n(\lambda) + \rho_n^h(\lambda).$$
(15)

In the thermodynamic limit the Bethe-Takahashi equations (9) reduce to an infinite set of coupled, non-linear integral equations

$$\frac{n}{2\pi} - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda' a_{nm}(\lambda - \lambda') \rho_m(\lambda') = \rho_n(\lambda)(1 + \eta_n(\lambda)).$$
(16)

where

$$a_{nm}(\lambda) = (1 - \delta_{nm})a_{|n-m|}(\lambda) + 2a_{|n-m|+2}(\lambda) + \dots + 2a_{n+m-2}(\lambda) + a_{n+m}(\lambda), \quad (17)$$

$$a_n(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \phi_n(\lambda) = \frac{2}{\pi n \overline{c}} \frac{1}{1 + \left(\frac{2\lambda}{n \overline{c}}\right)^2} \,. \tag{18}$$

In the thermodynamic limit the energy and momentum per volume are given by

$$k[\{\rho_n\}] = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \,\rho_n(\lambda) n\lambda, \qquad e[\{\rho_n\}] = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \,\rho_n(\lambda) \varepsilon_n(\lambda), \tag{19}$$

where

$$\varepsilon_n(\lambda) = n\lambda^2 - \frac{\bar{c}^2}{12}n(n^2 - 1).$$
⁽²⁰⁾

Finally, it is also useful to define the densities D_n and energy densities e_n of particles forming *n*-strings

$$D_n = n \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \,\rho_n(\lambda), \qquad e_n = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \,\rho_n(\lambda)\varepsilon_n(\lambda). \tag{21}$$

The total density and energy per volume are then additive

$$D = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} D_n, \qquad e = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} e_n.$$
(22)

2.3 The quench protocol

We consider a quantum quench in which the system is initially prepared in the BEC state, i.e. the ground state of (1) with c = 0, and the subsequent unitary time evolution is governed by the Hamiltonian (1) with $c = -\overline{c} < 0$. The same initial state was considered for quenches to the repulsive Bose gas in Refs [29, 51, 52, 89–91], while different initial conditions were considered in Refs [55, 92–102].

As we mentioned before, the energy after the quench is conserved and is most easily computed in the initial state $|\psi(0)\rangle = |\text{BEC}\rangle$ as

$$\langle \text{BEC}|H_{LL}|\text{BEC}\rangle = -\overline{c}\langle \text{BEC}|\int_{0}^{L} \mathrm{d}x \ \Psi^{\dagger}(x)\Psi^{\dagger}(x)\Psi(x)\Psi(x)|\text{BEC}\rangle.$$
 (23)

The expectation value on the r.h.s. can then be easily computed using Wick's theorem. In the thermodynamic limit we have

$$\frac{E}{L} = -\overline{c}D^2 = -\gamma D^3.$$
(24)

3 The quench action method

3.1 General considerations

Consider the post-quench time evolution of the expectation value of a general operator *O*. For a generic system it can be written as

$$\langle \psi(t)|O|\psi(t)\rangle = \sum_{\mu,\nu} \langle \psi(0)|\mu\rangle \langle \mu|O|\nu\rangle \langle \nu|\psi(0)\rangle e^{i(E_{\mu}-E_{\nu})t},$$
(25)

where $\{|\mu\rangle\}$ denotes an orthonormal basis of eigenstates of the post-quench Hamiltonian. In Ref. [50] it was argued that in integrable systems a major simplification occurs if one is interested in the time evolution of the expectation values of *local* operators O in the thermodynamic limit. In particular, the double sum in the spectral representation (25) can be replaced by a single sum over particle-hole excitations over a *representative eigenstate* $|\rho_{sp}\rangle$. In particular, we have

$$\lim_{\text{th}} \langle \psi(t) | \mathcal{O} | \psi(t) \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{e}} \left(e^{-\delta s_{\mathbf{e}} - i\delta\omega_{\mathbf{e}}t} \langle \rho_{sp} | \mathcal{O} | \rho_{sp}, \mathbf{e} \rangle + e^{-\delta s_{\mathbf{e}}^* + i\delta\omega_{\mathbf{e}}t} \langle \rho_{sp}, \mathbf{e} | \mathcal{O} | \rho_{sp} \rangle \right), \quad (26)$$

where we have indicated with \lim_{th} the thermodynamic limit $N, L \to \infty$, keeping the density D = N/L fixed. Here **e** denotes a generic excitation over the representative state $|\rho_{sp}\rangle$. Finally we have

$$\delta s_{\mathbf{e}} = -\ln \frac{\langle \rho_{sp}, \mathbf{e} | \psi(0) \rangle}{\langle \rho_{sp} | \psi(0) \rangle}, \qquad \delta \omega_{\mathbf{e}} = \omega [\rho_{sp}, \mathbf{e}] - \omega [\rho_{sp}], \tag{27}$$

where $\omega[\rho_{sp}]$, $\omega[\rho_{sp}, \mathbf{e}]$ are the energies of $|\rho_{sp}\rangle$ and $|\rho_{sp}, \mathbf{e}\rangle$ respectively. The representative eigenstate (or "saddle-point state") $|\rho_{sp}\rangle$ is described in the thermodynamic limit by two sets of distribution functions $\{\rho_n(\lambda)\}_n, \{\rho_n^h(\lambda)\}_n$. In Ref. [50] it was argued that these are selected by the saddle-point condition

$$\frac{\partial S_{QA}[\rho]}{\partial \rho_n(\lambda)}\Big|_{\rho=\rho_{sp}} = 0, \qquad n \ge 1,$$
(28)

where $S_{QA}[\rho]$ is the so-called quench action

$$S_{QA}[\rho] = 2S[\rho] - S_{YY}[\rho].$$
 (29)

Here ρ is the set of distribution functions corresponding to a general macro-state, $S[\rho]$ gives the thermodynamically leading part of the logarithm of the overlap

$$S[\rho] = -\lim_{\text{th}} \operatorname{Re} \ln \langle \psi(0) | \rho \rangle, \qquad (30)$$

and S_{YY} is the Yang-Yang entropy. As we will see in section 3.2, we will only have to consider parity-invariant Bethe states, namely eigenstates of the Hamiltonian (1) characterised by sets of rapidities satisfying $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^N = \{-\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^N$. Restricting to the sector of the Hilbert space of parity invariant Bethe states, the Yang-Yang entropy reads

$$\frac{S_{YY}[\rho]}{L} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda [\rho_n \ln(1+\eta_n) + \rho_n^h \ln(1+\eta_n^{-1})].$$
(31)

We note the global pre-factor 1/2. From Eq. (26) it follows that the saddle-point state $|\rho_{sp}\rangle$ can be seen as the effective stationary state reached by the system at long times. Indeed, if \mathcal{O} is a local operator, Eq. (26) gives

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \lim_{t \to \infty} \lim_{t \to \infty} \langle \psi(t) | \mathcal{O} | \psi(t) \rangle = \langle \rho_{sp} | \mathcal{O} | \rho_{sp} \rangle.$$
(32)

3.2 Overlaps with the BEC state

The main difficulty in applying the quench action method to a generic quantum quench problems is the computation of the overlaps $\langle \psi(0) | \rho \rangle$ between the initial state and eigenstates of the post-quench Hamiltonian. At present this problem has been solved only in a small number of special cases [50, 103–111].

A conjecture for the overlaps between the BEC state and the Bethe states in the Lieb-Liniger model first appeared in Ref. [51] and it was then rigorously proven, for arbitrary sign of the particle interaction strength, in Ref. [106]. As we have already mentioned, the overlap is non-vanishing only for parity invariant Bethe states, namely eigenstates characterised by sets of rapidities satisfying $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^N = \{-\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^N$ [105]. The formula reads

$$\langle \{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{N/2} \cup \{-\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{N/2} | \text{BEC} \rangle = \frac{\sqrt{(cL)^{-N}N!}}{\prod_{j=1}^{N/2} \frac{\lambda_j}{c} \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_j^2}{c^2} + \frac{1}{4}}} \frac{\det_{j,k,=1}^{N/2} G_{jk}^Q}{\sqrt{\det_{j,k,=1}^N G_{jk}}},$$
(33)

where

$$G_{jk} = \delta_{jk} \left[L + \sum_{l=1}^{N} K(\lambda_j - \lambda_l) \right] - K(\lambda_j - \lambda_k),$$
(34)

$$G_{jk}^{Q} = \delta_{jk} \left[L + \sum_{l=1}^{N/2} K^{Q}(\lambda_{j}, \lambda_{l}) \right] - K^{Q}(\lambda_{j}, \lambda_{k}),$$
(35)

$$K^{Q}(\lambda,\mu) = K(\lambda-\mu) + K(\lambda+\mu), \qquad K(\lambda) = \frac{2c}{\lambda^{2}+c^{2}}.$$
(36)

The extensive part of the logarithm of the overlap (33) was computed in Ref. [51] in the repulsive regime. A key observation was that the ratio of the determinants is non-extensive, i.e.

$$\lim_{\text{th}} \frac{\det_{j,k,=1}^{N/2} G_{jk}^Q}{\sqrt{\det_{j,k,=1}^N G_{jk}}} = \mathcal{O}(1).$$
(37)

In the attractive regime additional technical difficulties arise, because matrix elements of the Gaudin-like matrices G_{jk} , G_{jk}^Q can exhibit singularities when the Bethe state contains bound states [111]. This is analogous to the situation encountered for a quench from the Néel state to the gapped XXZ model [57–60]. In particular, one can see that the kernel $K(\mu - \nu)$ diverges as $1/(\delta_{\alpha}^{n,a} - \delta_{\alpha}^{n,a+1})$ for two "neighboring" rapidities in the same string $\mu = \lambda_{\alpha}^{n,a}$, $\nu = \lambda_{\alpha}^{n,a+1}$, or when rapidities from different strings approach one another in the thermodynamic limit, $\mu \rightarrow \lambda + ic$.

These kinds of singularities are present in the determinants of both G_{jk}^Q and G_{jk} . It was argued in Refs [57, 58, 111] that they cancel one another in the expression for the overlap. As was noted in Refs. [57, 58, 111], no other singularities arise as long as one considers the overlap between the BEC state and a Bethe state without zero-momentum *n*-strings, (strings centred at $\lambda = 0$). Concomitantly the ratio of the determinants in (33) is expected to give a sub-leading contribution in the thermodynamic limit, and can be dropped. The leading term in the logarithm of the overlaps can then be easily computed along the lines of Refs. [57, 58]

$$\ln\langle\rho|\text{BEC}\rangle = -\frac{LD}{2}(\ln\gamma + 1) + \frac{L}{2}\sum_{m=1}^{\infty}\int_{0}^{\infty}d\lambda\rho_{n}(\lambda)\ln W_{n}(\lambda), \qquad (38)$$

where

$$W_n(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\frac{\lambda^2}{\bar{c}^2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{\bar{c}^2} + \frac{n^2}{4}\right) \prod_{j=1}^{n-1} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{\bar{c}^2} + \frac{j^2}{4}\right)^2}.$$
(39)

In the case where zero-momentum *n*-strings are present, a more careful analysis is required in order to extract the leading term of the overlap (33) [111,112]. This is reported in Appendix A. The upshot of this analysis is that (38) gives the correct leading behaviour of the overlap even in the presence of zero-momentum *n*-strings.

4 Stationary state

4.1 Saddle point equations

As noted before, the stationary state is characterized by two sets of distribution functions $\{\rho_n(\lambda)\}_n, \{\rho_n^h(\lambda)\}_n$, which fulfil two infinite systems of coupled, non-linear integral equations. The first of these is the thermodynamic version of the Bethe-Takahashi equations (16). The second set is derived from the saddle-point condition of the quench action (28), and the resulting equations are sometimes called the overlap thermodynamic Bethe ansatz equations (oTBA equations). Their derivation follows Refs [57–60]. In order to fix the density D = N/L we add the following term to the quench action (29)

$$-hL\left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty}m\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}d\lambda\rho_{m}(\lambda)-D\right).$$
(40)

As discussed in the previous section, $S[\rho]$ in (29) can be written as

$$S[\rho] = \frac{LD}{2} (\ln \gamma + 1) - \frac{L}{2} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\lambda \rho_n(\lambda) \ln W_n(\lambda) , \qquad (41)$$

where $W_n(\lambda)$ is given in (39). Using (41), (31), and (40) one can straightforwardly extremize the quench action (29) and arrive at the following set of oTBA equations

$$\ln \eta_n(\lambda) = -2hn - \ln W_n(\lambda) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} a_{nm} * \ln(1 + \eta_m^{-1})(\lambda), \qquad n \ge 1.$$
 (42)

Here a_{nm} are defined in (17), and we have used the notation $f * g(\lambda)$ to indicate the convolution between two functions

$$f * g(\lambda) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\mu f(\lambda - \mu)g(\mu).$$
(43)

Eqns (42) determine the functions $\eta_n(\lambda)$ and, together with Eqns (16) completely fix the distribution functions $\{\rho_n(\lambda)\}_n, \{\rho_n^h(\lambda)\}_n$ characterising the stationary state.

4.2 Tri-diagonal form of the oTBA equations

Following standard manipulations of equilibrium TBA equations [75], we may re-cast the oTBA equations (42) in the form

$$\ln \eta_n(\lambda) = d(\lambda) + s * [\ln(1 + \eta_{n-1}) + \ln(1 + \eta_{n+1})](\lambda), \qquad n \ge 1.$$
(44)

Here we have defined $\eta_0(\lambda) = 0$ and

$$s(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2\overline{c}\cosh\left(\frac{\pi\lambda}{\overline{c}}\right)},\tag{45}$$

$$d(\lambda) = \ln \left[\tanh^2 \left(\frac{\pi \lambda}{2\overline{c}} \right) \right].$$
(46)

The calculations leading to Eqns (44) are summarized in Appendix B. The thermodynamic form of the Bethe-Takahashi equations (16) can be similarly rewritten. Since we do not make explicit use of them in the following, we relegate their derivation to Appendix B.

4.3 Asymptotic relations

Eqns (44) do not fix $\{\eta_n(\lambda)\}_n$ of Eqns (42), because they do not contain the chemical potential h. In order to recover the (unique) solution of Eqns (42), it is then necessary to combine Eqns (44) with a condition on the asymptotic behaviour of $\eta_n(\lambda)$ for large n. In our case one can derive from (42) the following relation, which holds asymptotically for $n \to \infty$

$$\ln \eta_{n+1}(\lambda) \simeq -2h + a_1 * \ln \eta_n(\lambda) + \ln \left[\frac{\lambda}{\overline{c}} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{\overline{c}^2} + \frac{1}{4}\right)\right]. \tag{47}$$

Here $a_1(\lambda)$ is given in (18) (for n = 1). The derivation of Eqn (47) is reported in Appendix C. The set of equations (44), with the additional constraint given by Eqn (47), is now equivalent to Eqns (42).

5 Rapidity distribution functions for the stationary state

5.1 Numerical analysis

Eqns (16), (42) can be truncated to obtain a finite system of integral equations, which are defined on the real line $\lambda \in (-\infty, \infty)$. One can then numerically solve this finite system either by introducing a cut-off for large λ , or by mapping the equations onto a finite interval. Following the latter approach, we define

$$\chi_n(\lambda) = \ln\left(\frac{\eta_n(\lambda)\tau^{2n}}{q_n(\lambda)}\right),\tag{48}$$

where $q_n(\lambda)$ is given by

$$q_n(\lambda) = \frac{1}{W_n(\lambda)} = \frac{\lambda^2}{\bar{c}^2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{\bar{c}^2} + \left(\frac{n}{2}\right)^2\right) \prod_{l=1}^{n-1} \left[\frac{\lambda^2}{\bar{c}^2} + \left(\frac{l}{2}\right)^2\right]^2 \,. \tag{49}$$

Finally, we have defined

$$\tau = e^h,\tag{50}$$

h being the Lagrange multiplier appearing in (42). The functions $\chi_n(\lambda)$ satisfy the following system of equations

$$\chi_{n}(\lambda) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} a_{nm} * \ln\left(1 + \frac{\tau^{2m}}{q_{m}(\lambda)}e^{-\chi_{m}(\lambda)}\right) = \\ = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\mu \left(a_{nm}(\lambda - \mu) + a_{nm}(\lambda + \mu)\right) \ln\left(1 + \frac{\tau^{2m}}{q_{m}(\mu)}e^{-\chi_{m}(\mu)}\right), \quad (51)$$

where $a_{nm}(\lambda)$ are defined in (17). We then change variables

$$\frac{\lambda(x)}{\overline{c}} = \frac{1-x}{1+x} , \qquad (52)$$

which maps the interval $(0, \infty)$ onto (-1, 1). Since the distributions $\chi_n(\lambda)$ are symmetric w.r.t. 0, they can be described by functions with domain $(0, \infty)$. Using the map (52) they become functions $\chi_n(x)$ with domain (-1, 1). The set of equations (51) becomes

$$\chi_n(x) = 2\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{-1}^{1} dy \frac{1}{(1+y)^2} \mathscr{A}_{nm}(x,y) \ln\left(1 + \frac{\tau^{2m}}{q_m(y)}e^{-\chi_m(y)}\right),$$
(53)

where

$$\mathcal{A}_{nm}(x,y) = \overline{c} \left[a_{nm} \left(\lambda(x) - \lambda(y) \right) + a_{nm} \left(\lambda(x) + \lambda(y) \right) \right].$$
(54)

The thermodynamic Bethe-Takahashi equations (16) can be similarly recast in the form

$$\Theta_n(x) = \frac{n}{2\pi} - 2\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{-1}^{1} \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{(1+y)^2} \frac{\mathscr{A}_{nm}(x,y)}{1+\eta_m(y)} \Theta_m(y), \tag{55}$$

where $\Theta(x) = \rho_n^t(\lambda(x))$, with $\lambda(x)$ defined in Eq. (52). The infinite systems (53) and (55), defined on the interval (-1, 1), can then be truncated and solved numerically for the functions $\chi_n(x)$ and $\Theta_n(x)$, for example using the Gaussian quadrature method. The functions $\eta_n(\lambda)$ are recovered from (48) and (52), while the particle and hole distributions $\rho_n(\lambda)$, $\rho_n^h(\lambda)$ are obtained from the knowledge of $\eta_n(\lambda)$ and $\rho_n^t(\lambda)$.

As γ decreases, we found that an increasing number of equations has to be kept when truncating the infinite systems (53), (55) in order to obtain an accurate numerical solution. As we will see in section 6.2, this is due to the fact that, as $\gamma \rightarrow 0$, bound states with higher number of particles are formed and the corresponding distribution functions $\rho_n(\lambda)$, $\eta_n(\lambda)$ cannot be neglected in (16), (42). As an example, our numerical solution for $\gamma = 0.25$, and $\gamma = 2.5$ is shown in Fig. 1, where we also provide a comparison with the analytical solution discussed in section 5.3.

Two non-trivial checks for our numerical solution are available. The first is given by Eq. (24), i.e. the solution has to satisfy the sum rule

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \rho_n(\lambda) \varepsilon_n(\lambda) = -\gamma D^3,$$
(56)

where $\varepsilon_n(\lambda)$ is defined in Eqn (20). The second non-trivial check was suggested in Refs [59,60] (see also Ref. [58]), and is based on the observation that the action (29) has to be equal to zero when evaluated on the saddle point solution, i.e. $S_{QA}[\rho_{sp}] = 0$, or

$$2S[\rho_{sp}] = S_{YY}[\rho_{sp}], \tag{57}$$

where $S[\rho]$ and $S_{YY}[\rho]$ are defined respectively in (41) and (31). Both (56) and (57) are satisfied by our numerical solutions within a relative numerical error $\epsilon \leq 10^{-4}$ for all numerically accessible values of *h*. As a final check we have verified that our numerical solution satisfies, within numerical errors,

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{\tau} , \qquad (58)$$

where τ is defined in (50) and $\gamma = \bar{c}/D$ is computed from the distribution functions using (22). Relation (58) is equivalent to that found in the repulsive case [51].

5.2 Perturbative expansion

Following Ref. [51] we now turn to a "perturbative" analysis of Eqns (42). This will provide us with another non-trivial check on the validity of the analytical solution presented in section 5.3. Defining $\varphi_n(\lambda) = 1/\eta_n(\lambda)$ and using (50), we can rewrite (42) in the form

$$\ln \varphi_n(\lambda) = \ln(\tau^{2n}) + \ln W_n(\lambda) - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} a_{nm} * \ln(1 + \varphi_m)(\lambda),$$
(59)

where $W_n(\lambda)$ is given in (39). We now expand the functions $\varphi_n(\lambda)$ as power series in τ

$$\varphi_n(\lambda) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \varphi_n^{(k)}(\lambda) \tau^k.$$
(60)



Figure 1: Rapidity distribution functions $\rho_n(\lambda)$ and $(2\pi/n)\rho_n^h(\lambda)$ for *n*-string solutions with $n \leq 4$. The final value of the interaction is chosen as (a) $\gamma = 0.25$ and (b) $\gamma = 2.5$. The dots correspond to the numerical solution discussed in section 5.1, while solid lines correspond to the analytical solution presented in section 5.3. The functions are shown for $\lambda > 0$ (being symmetric with respect to $\lambda = 0$) and have been rescaled for presentational purposes. Note that the rescaling factors for the hole distributions are determined by their asymptotic values, $\rho_n^h(\lambda) \rightarrow n/2\pi$ as $\lambda \rightarrow \infty$.

From (59) one readily sees that $\varphi_n(\lambda) = \mathcal{O}(\tau^{2n})$, i.e.

$$\varphi_n^{(k)}(\lambda) = 0, \quad k = 0, \dots, 2n-1,$$
(61)

$$\varphi_n^{(2n)}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\frac{\lambda^2}{\bar{c}^2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{\bar{c}^2} + \frac{n^2}{4}\right) \prod_{j=1}^{n-1} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{\bar{c}^2} + \frac{j^2}{4}\right)^2}.$$
(62)

Using (62) as a starting point we can now solve Eqns (59) by iteration. The calculations are straightforward but tedious, and are sketched in Appendix D. Using this method we have calculated $\varphi_1(\lambda)$ up to fifth order in τ . In terms of the the dimensionless variable $x = \lambda/\overline{c}$ we have

$$\varphi_1(x) = \frac{\tau^2}{x^2(x^2 + \frac{1}{4})} \left[1 - \frac{4\tau}{x^2 + 1} + \frac{\tau^2(1 + 13x^2)}{(1 + x^2)^2(x^2 + \frac{1}{4})} - \frac{32(-1 + 5x^2)\tau^3}{(1 + x^2)^3(1 + 4x^2)} \right] + \mathcal{O}(\tau^6).$$
(63)

5.3 Exact solution

In this section we discuss how to solve equations (16), (42) analytically. We first observe that the distribution functions $\rho_n(\lambda)$ can be obtained from the set $\{\eta_n(\lambda)\}_n$ of functions fulfilling Eqns (42) as

$$\rho_n(\lambda) = \frac{\tau}{4\pi} \frac{\partial_\tau \eta_n^{-1}(\lambda)}{1 + \eta_n^{-1}(\lambda)},\tag{64}$$

where τ is given in (50). This relation is analogous to the one found in the repulsive case in Ref. [51]. To prove (64) one takes the partial derivative ∂_{τ} of both sides of (59). Combining the resulting equation with the thermodynamic version of the Bethe-Takahashi equations (16), and finally invoking the uniqueness of the solution, we obtain (64).

This leaves us with the task of solving (42). In what follows we introduce the dimensionless parameter $x = \lambda/\overline{c}$ and throughout this section, with a slight abuse of notation, we will use the same notations for functions of λ and of x. Our starting point is the tri-diagonal form (44) of the coupled integral equations (42). Following Ref. [58] we introduce the corresponding *Y*-system [113, 114]

$$y_n\left(x+\frac{i}{2}\right)y_n\left(x-\frac{i}{2}\right) = Y_{n-1}(x)Y_{n+1}(x), \qquad n \ge 1,$$
(65)

where we define $y_0(x) = 0$ and

$$Y_n(x) = 1 + y_n(x).$$
 (66)

Let us now assume that there exists a set of functions $y_n(x)$ that satisfy the *Y*-system (65), and as functions of the complex variable *z* have the following properties

- 1. $y_n(z) \sim z^2$, as $z \to 0$, $\forall n \ge 1$;
- 2. $y_n(z)$ has no poles in $-1/2 < \text{Im}(z) < 1/2, \forall n \ge 1$;
- 3. $y_n(z)$ has no zeroes in -1/2 < Im(z) < 1/2 except for $z = 0, \forall n \ge 1$.

One can prove that the set of functions $y_n(x)$ with these properties solve the tri-diagonal form of the integral equations equations (44) [58]. To see this, one has to first take the logarithmic derivative of both sides of (65) and take the Fourier transform, integrating in $x \in (-\infty, \infty)$. Since the argument of the functions in the l.h.s. is shifted by $\pm i/2$ in the imaginary direction, one has to use complex analysis techniques to perform the integral. In particular, under the assumptions (1), (2), (3) the application of the residue theorem precisely generates, after taking the inverse Fourier transform, the driving term $d(\lambda)$ in (44) [58].

We conjecture that the exact solution for $\eta_1(x)$ is given by

$$\eta_1(x) = \frac{x^2 [1 + 4\tau + 12\tau^2 + (5 + 16\tau)x^2 + 4x^4]}{4\tau^2 (1 + x^2)}.$$
(67)

Our evidence supporting this conjecture is as follows:

- 1. We have verified using Mathematica that the functions $\eta_n(x)$ generated by substituting (67) into the Y-system (65) have the properties (1), (2) up to n = 30. We have checked for a substantial number of values of the chemical potential *h* that they have the third property (3) up to n = 10.
- 2. Our expression (67) agrees with the expansion (63) in powers of τ up to fifth order.
- 3. Eqn (67) agrees perfectly with our numerical solution of the saddle-point equations discussed in section 5.1, as is shown in Fig. 1.

Given $\eta_1(x)$ we can use the *Y*-system (65) to generate $\eta_n(x)$ with $n \ge 2$

$$\eta_n(x) = \frac{\eta_{n-1}\left(x + \frac{i}{2}\right)\eta_{n-1}\left(x - \frac{i}{2}\right)}{1 + \eta_{n-2}(x)} - 1 , \ n \ge 2.$$
(68)

As mentioned before, the distribution functions $\rho_n(x)$ can be obtained using (64). The explicit expressions for $\rho_1(x)$ and $\rho_2(x)$ are as follows:

$$\rho_1(x) = \frac{2\tau^2(1+x^2)(1+2\tau+x^2)}{\pi(x^2+(2\tau+x^2)^2)(1+5x^2+4(\tau+3\tau^2+4\tau x^2+x^4))},$$
(69)

$$\rho_2(x) = \frac{16\tau^4(9+4x^2)h_1(x,\tau)}{\pi(1+4x^2+8\tau)h_2(x,\tau)h_3(x,\tau)},$$
(70)

where

$$h_1(x,\tau) = 9 + 49x^2 + 56x^4 + 16x^6 + 72\tau + 168x^2\tau + 96x^4\tau + 116\tau^2 + 176x^2\tau^2 + 96\tau^3,$$
(71)
$$h_1(x,\tau) = 0 + 40x^2 + 56x^4 + 16x^6 + 24\tau$$

$$n_{2}(x,\tau) = 9 + 49x^{2} + 56x^{2} + 16x^{2} + 24\tau + 120x^{2}\tau + 96x^{4}\tau + 40\tau^{2} + 160x^{2}\tau^{2} + 64\tau^{3},$$
(72)

$$h_3(x,\tau) = 9x^2 + 49x^4 + 56x^6 + 16x^8 + 96x^2\tau + 224x^4\tau$$

+
$$128x^{6}\tau + 232x^{2}\tau^{2} + 352x^{4}\tau^{2} + 384x^{2}\tau^{3} + 144\tau^{4}$$
. (73)

The functions $\rho_n(x)$ for $n \ge 3$ are always written as rational functions but their expressions get lengthier as *n* increases.

6 Physical properties of the stationary state

6.1 Local pair correlation function

The distribution functions $\rho_n(\lambda)$, $\rho_n^h(\lambda)$ completely characterize the stationary state. Their knowledge, in principle, allows one to calculate all local correlation functions in the thermodynamic limit. In practice, while formulas exist for the expectation values of simple local operators in the Lieb-Liniger model in the finite volume [115–118], it is generally difficult to take the thermodynamic limit of these expressions. In contrast to the repulsive case [117,119–123],

much less is known in the attractive regime, where technical complications arise that are associated with the existence of string solutions to the Bethe ansatz equations. Here we focus on the computation of the local pair correlation function

$$g_2 = \frac{\langle : \hat{\rho}^2(0) : \rangle}{D^2} = \frac{\langle \Psi^{\dagger}(0)\Psi^{\dagger}(0)\Psi(0)\Psi(0)\rangle}{D^2}.$$
 (74)

We start by applying the Hellmann-Feynman [119, 120, 122, 124] theorem to the expectation value in a general energy eigenstate $|\{\lambda_i\}\rangle$ with energy $E[\{\lambda_i\}]$ of the finite system

$$\langle \{\lambda_j\} | \Psi^{\dagger} \Psi^{\dagger} \Psi \Psi | \{\lambda_j\} \rangle = -\frac{1}{L} \frac{\partial E[\{\lambda_j\}]}{\partial \overline{c}} .$$
(75)

In order to evaluate the expression on the r.h.s., we need to take the derivative of the Bethe-Takahashi equations (9) with respect to \overline{c}

$$f^{(n)}(\lambda_{\alpha}) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m} \frac{2\pi}{L} \sum_{\beta} \left(f^{(n)}(\lambda_{\alpha}) - f^{(m)}(\lambda_{\beta}) - \frac{\lambda_{\alpha}^{n}}{\overline{c}} + \frac{\lambda_{\beta}^{m}}{\overline{c}} \right) a_{nm}(\lambda_{\alpha}^{n} - \lambda_{\beta}^{m}) .$$
(76)

Here a_{nm} is given in Eq. (17) and

$$f^{(n)}(\lambda_{\alpha}) = \frac{\partial \lambda_{\alpha}^{n}}{\partial \bar{c}} .$$
(77)

Taking the thermodynamic limit gives

$$f^{(n)}(\lambda) = \frac{2\pi}{n} \left(f^{(n)}(\lambda) - \frac{\lambda}{\overline{c}} \right) \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\mu \ \rho_m(\mu) a_{nm}(\lambda - \mu) + \frac{2\pi}{n} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\mu \ \rho_m(\mu) \left(\frac{\mu}{\overline{c}} - f^{(m)}(\mu) \right) a_{nm}(\lambda - \mu).$$
(78)

Using the thermodynamic version of the Bethe-Takahashi equations (16) and defining

$$b_n(\lambda) = 2\pi \left(\frac{\lambda}{\overline{c}} - f^{(n)}(\lambda)\right) \rho_n^t(\lambda), \tag{79}$$

we arrive at

$$b_n(\lambda) = n \frac{\lambda}{\overline{c}} - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\mu \, \frac{1}{1 + \eta_m(\mu)} b_m(\mu) a_{nm}(\lambda - \mu) \,. \tag{80}$$

The set of equations (80) completely fixes the functions $b_n(\lambda)$, once the functions $\eta_n(\lambda)$ are known. The right hand side of (75) in the finite volume can be cast in the form

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial \bar{c}} = \sum_{n} \left[\sum_{\alpha} 2n\lambda_{\alpha}^{n} f^{(n)}(\lambda_{\alpha}) - \frac{\bar{c}}{6}n(n^{2} - 1) \right].$$
(81)

Taking the thermodynamic limit, and using (79) we finally arrive at

$$\frac{1}{L}\frac{\partial E}{\partial \overline{c}} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu}{2\pi} \left[2\pi\rho_n(\mu) \left(\frac{2n\mu^2}{\overline{c}} - \frac{\overline{c}}{6}n(n^2 - 1) \right) - 2n\mu b_n(\mu) \frac{1}{1 + \eta_m(\mu)} \right]. \tag{82}$$

Combining (80) and (82) we can express the local pair correlation function as

$$g_{2}(\gamma) = \gamma^{2} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \left[2mx b_{m}(x) \frac{1}{1 + \tilde{\eta}_{m}(x)} - 2\pi \tilde{\rho}_{m}(x) \left(2mx^{2} - \frac{m(m^{2} - 1)}{6} \right) \right], \quad (83)$$

where the functions $b_n(x)$ are determined by

$$b_n(x) = nx - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}y \ \frac{1}{1 + \widetilde{\eta}_m(y)} b_m(y) \widetilde{a}_{nm}(x - y). \tag{84}$$

In (83), (84) we defined

$$\widetilde{\eta}_n(x) = \eta_n(x\overline{c}) , \quad \widetilde{\rho}_n(x) = \rho_n(x\overline{c}) , \quad \widetilde{a}_{nm}(x) = \overline{c}a_{nm}(x\overline{c}).$$
(85)

Using the knowledge of the functions $\eta_n(\lambda)$ for the stationary state, we can solve Eqns (84) numerically and substitute the results into (83) to obtain $g_2(\gamma)$.

While (83), (84) cannot be solved in closed form, they can be used to obtain an explicit asymptotic expansion around $\gamma = \infty$. To that end we use (19), (20) and (24) to rewrite $g_2(\gamma)$ as

$$g_2(\gamma) = 2 + \gamma^2 \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} 2mx b_m(x) \frac{1}{1 + \widetilde{\eta}_m(x)}.$$
(86)

We then use that large values of γ correspond to small values of τ , cf. (58), and carry out a small- τ expansion of the functions

$$\frac{1}{1+\widetilde{\eta}_n(x)} = \frac{\widetilde{\varphi}_n(x)}{(1+\widetilde{\varphi}_n(x))},\tag{87}$$

where $\tilde{\varphi}_n(x) = 1/\tilde{\eta}_n(x)$ as in section 5.2. Substituting this expansion into the r.h.s. of (84) and proceeding iteratively, we obtain an expansion for the functions $b_n(x)$ in powers of τ . The steps are completely analogous to those discussed in section 5.2 for the functions $\varphi_n(\lambda)$ and will not be repeated here. Finally, we use the series expansions of $b_n(x)$ and $(1 + \tilde{\eta}_n(x))^{-1}$ in (86) to obtain an asymptotic expansion for $g_2(\gamma)$. The result is

$$g_2(\gamma) = 4 - \frac{40}{3\gamma} + \frac{344}{3\gamma^2} - \frac{2656}{3\gamma^3} + \frac{1447904}{225\gamma^4} + \mathcal{O}(\gamma^{-5}).$$
(88)

In Fig. 2 we compare results of a full numerical solution of Eqns (83), (84) to the asymptotic expansion (88). As expected, the latter breaks down for sufficiently small values of γ . In contrast to the large- γ regime, the limit $\gamma \rightarrow 0$ is more difficult to analyze because $g_2(\gamma)$ is non-analytic in $\gamma = 0$. The limit $\gamma \rightarrow 0$ can be calculated as shown in Appendix E, and is given by

$$\lim_{\gamma \to 0} g_2(\gamma) = 2. \tag{89}$$

As was already noted in Ref. [56], (89) implies that the function $g_2(\gamma)$ is discontinuous in $\gamma = 0$. Indeed, $g_2(0)$ can be calculated directly by using Wick's theorem in the initial BEC state

$$\frac{\langle \text{BEC}|:\hat{\rho}(0)^2:|\text{BEC}\rangle}{D^2} = 1.$$
(90)

This discontinuity, which is absent for quenches to the repulsive regime [51], is ascribed to the presence of multi-particle bound states for all values of $\gamma \neq 0$. The former are also at the origin of the non-vanishing limit of $g_2(\gamma)$ for $\gamma \rightarrow \infty$ as it will be discussed in the next section.

Finally, an interesting question is the calculation of the three-body one-point correlation function $g_3(\gamma)$ on the post-quench steady state. The latter is relevant for experimental realizations of bosons confined in one dimension, as it is proportional to the three-body recombination rate [125]. For g_3 it is reasonable to expect that three-particle bound states may give non-vanishing contributions in the large coupling limit. While g_3 is known for general states in the repulsive Lieb-Liniger model, its computation in the attractive case is significantly harder and requires further development of existing methods. We hope that our work will motivate theoretical efforts in this direction.



Figure 2: Local pair correlation function $g_2(\gamma)$ in the stationary state at late times after the quench. The numerical solution of Eqns (83), (84) is shown as a solid orange line. The asymptotic expansion (88) around $\gamma = \infty$ up to order $\mathcal{O}(\gamma^{-n})$ with n = 2, 3, 4 is seen to be in good agreement for large values of γ .

6.2 Physical implications of the multi-particle bound states

A particularly interesting feature of our stationary state is the presence of finite densities of *n*-particle bound states with $n \ge 2$. In Fig. 3, their densities and energies per volume are shown for a number of different values of γ . We see that the maximum of D_n occurs at a value of *n* that increases as γ decreases. This result has a simple physical interpretation. In the attractive regime, the bosons have a tendency to form multi-particle bound states. One might naively expect that increasing the strength γ of the attraction between bosons would lead to the formation of bound states with an ever increasing number of particles, thus leading to phase separation. However, in the quench setup the total energy of the system is fixed by the initial state, cf. (24), while the energy of *n*-particle bound states scales as n^3 , cf. Eqns (20), (21). As a result, *n*-particle bound states cannot be formed for large values of γ , and indeed they are found to have very small densities for $n \ge 3$. On the contrary, decreasing the interaction strength γ , the absolute value of their energy lowers and these bound states become accessible. The dependence of the peak in Fig. 3 on γ is monotonic but non-trivial and it is the result of the competition between the tendency of attractive bosons to cluster, and the fact that *n*-particle bound states with *n* very large cannot be formed as a result of energy conservation.

The presence of multi-particle bound states affects measurable properties of the system, and is the reason for the particular behaviour of the local pair correlation function computed in the previous section. Remarkably, this is true also in the limit $\gamma \to \infty$. This is in marked contrast to the super Tonks-Girardeau gas, where bound states are absent. To exhibit the important role of bound states in the limit of large γ , we will demonstrate that the limiting value of $g_2(\gamma)$ for $\gamma \to \infty$ is entirely determined by bound pairs. It follows from (83) that



Figure 3: Density D_n and absolute value of the normalized energies per volume e_n/γ of the bosons forming *n*-particle bound states as defined in (21). The plots correspond to (*a*) $\gamma = 20$, (*b*) $\gamma = 2$, (*c*) $\gamma = 0.2$. The total density is fixed D = 1. The energy densities e_n are always negative for $n \ge 2$ (i.e. $|e_n| = -e_n$ for $n \ge 2$) while $e_1 > 0$.

 $g_2(\gamma)$ can be written in the form

$$g_2(\gamma) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} g_2^{(m)}(\gamma),$$
 (91)

where $g_2^{(m)}(\gamma)$ denotes the contribution of *m*-particle bound states to the local pair correlation

$$g_{2}^{(m)}(\gamma) = \gamma^{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \left[2mx b_{m}(x) \frac{1}{1 + \tilde{\eta}_{m}(x)} - 2\pi \tilde{\rho}_{m}(x) \left(2mx^{2} - \frac{m(m^{2} - 1)}{6} \right) \right].$$
(92)

Let us first show that unbound particles give a vanishing contribution

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} g_2^{(1)}(\gamma) = 0.$$
(93)

In order to prove this, we use that at leading order in $1/\gamma$ we have $b_1(x) = x$. Using the explicit expressions for $\tilde{\eta}_1(x)$, $\tilde{\rho}_1(x)$ we can then perform the integrations in the r.h.s. of Eq. (92) exactly and take the limit $\gamma \to \infty$ afterwards. We obtain

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \, 2x b_1(x) \frac{1}{1 + \widetilde{\eta}_1(x)} = 2,\tag{94}$$

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \left(-2\pi \tilde{\rho}_1(x) 2x^2 \right) = -2, \tag{95}$$

which establishes (93). Next, we address the bound pair contribution. At leading order in $1/\gamma$ we have $b_2(x) = 2x$, and using the explicit expression for $\tilde{\eta}_2(x)$ we obtain

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \, 4x \, b_2(x) \frac{1}{1 + \tilde{\eta}_2(x)} = 0. \tag{96}$$

This leaves us with the contribution

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \left[-2\pi \widetilde{\rho_2}(x) \left(4x^2 - 1 \right) \right]. \tag{97}$$

Although the function $\tilde{\rho}_2(x)$ is known, cf. Eq. (70), its expression is unwieldy and it is difficult to compute the integral analytically. On the other hand, one cannot expand $\tilde{\rho}_2(x)$ in $1/\gamma$ inside the integral, because the integral of individual terms in this expansion are not convergent (signalling that in this case one cannot exchange the order of the limit $\gamma \rightarrow \infty$ and of the integration). Nevertheless, the numerical computation of the integral in (97) for large values of γ presents no difficulties and one can then compute the limit numerically. We found that the limit in Eq. (97) is equal to 4 within machine precision so that

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} g_2(\gamma) = 4 = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} g_2^{(2)}(\gamma).$$
(98)

Finally, we verified that contributions coming from bound states with higher numbers of particles are vanishing, i.e. $g_2^{(m)}(\gamma) \to 0$ for $\gamma \to \infty$, $m \ge 3$. This establishes that the behaviour of $g_2(\gamma)$ for large values of γ is dominated by bound pair of bosons.

7 Conclusions

We have considered quantum quenches from an ideal Bose condensate to the one-dimensional Lieb-Liniger model with arbitrary attractive interactions. We have determined the stationary state, and determined its physical properties. In particular, we revealed that the stationary state is composed of an interesting mixture of multi-particle bound states, and computed the local pair correlation function in this state. Our discussion presents a detailed derivation of results first announced in Ref. [56].

As we have stressed repeatedly, the most intriguing feature of the stationary state for the quench studied in this work is the presence of multi-particle bound states. As was argued in Ref. [56], their properties could in principle be probed in ultra-cold atoms experiments. Multi-particle bound states are also formed in the quench from the Néel state to the gapped XXZ model, as it was recently reported in Refs. [57–60]. However, in contrast to our case, the bound state densities are always small compared to the density of unbound magnons for all the values of the final anisotropy parameter $\Delta \geq 1$ [58].

Our work also provides an interesting physical example of a quantum quench, where different initial conditions lead to stationary states with qualitatively different features. Indeed, a quench in the one-dimensional Bose gas from the infinitely repulsive to the infinitely attractive regime leads to the super Tonks-Girardeau gas, where bound states are absent. On the other hand, as shown in section 6, if the initial state is an ideal Bose condensate, bound states have important consequences on the correlation functions of the system even in the limit of large negative interactions.

An interesting open question is to find a description of our stationary state in terms of a GGE. As the stationary state involves bound states, it is likely that the GGE will involve not yet known quasi-local conserved charges [41, 44, 45] as well as the known ultra-local ones [126]. In the Lieb-Liniger model technical difficulties arise when addressing such issues, as expectation values of local conserved charges generally exhibit divergences [29, 89, 126]. In addition, very little is known about quasi-local conserved charges for interacting models defined in the continuum [41, 48].

Finally, it would be interesting to investigate the approach to the steady state in the quench considered in this work. While this is in general a very difficult problem, in the repulsive

regime the post-quench time evolution from the non-interacting BEC state was considered in [53]. There an efficient numerical evaluation of the representation (26) was performed, based on the knowledge of exact one-point form factors [118]. The attractive regime, however, is significantly more involved due to the presence of bound states and the study of the whole post-quench time evolution remains a theoretical challenge for future investigations.

Acknowledgements

We thank Michael Brockmann for a careful reading of the manuscript. PC acknowledges the financial support by the ERC under Starting Grant 279391 EDEQS. The work of FHLE was supported by the EPSRC under grant EP/N01930X. All authors acknowledge the hospitality of the Isaac Newton Institute for Mathematical Sciences under grant EP/K032208/1.

A Overlaps in the presence of zero-momentum *n*-strings

In this appendix we argue that Eq. (38) gives the leading term in the thermodynamic limit of the logarithm of the overlap between the BEC state and a parity-invariant Bethe state, even in cases where the latter contains zero-momentum strings.

To see this, consider a parity invariant Bethe state with a single zero-momentum *m*-string, and *K* parity-related pairs of n_j -strings. The total number of particles in such a state is then $N = 2\sum_j n_j + m$. In Ref. [111] an explicit expression for the overlap (33) of such states with a BEC state in the zero-density limit ($L \rightarrow \infty$ and *N* fixed) was obtained. Up to an irrelevant (for our purposes) overall minus sign, it reads

$$\langle \{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{N/2} \cup \{-\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{N/2} | \text{BEC} \rangle = \frac{2^{m-1}L\overline{c}}{(m-1)!} \sqrt{\frac{N!}{(L\overline{c})^N}} \\ \times \prod_{p=1}^{K} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\frac{\lambda_p^2}{\overline{c}^2} \left(\frac{\lambda_p^2}{\overline{c}^2} + \frac{n_p^2}{4}\right)} \prod_{q=1}^{n_p-1} \left(\frac{\lambda_p^2}{\overline{c}^2} + \frac{q^2}{4}\right)},$$
(99)

where λ_p is the centre of the *p*'th string. We see that as a result of having a zero-momentum string, an additional pre-factor *L* appears. In general, the presence of *M* zero-momentum strings will lead to an additional pre-factor L^M [111]. While (99) is derived in the zero density limit, we expect an additional pre-factor to be present also if one considers the thermodynamic limit $N, L \rightarrow \infty$, at finite density D = N/L. Importantly such pre-factors will result in *subleading* corrections of order $(\ln L)/L$ to the logarithm of the overlaps. This suggests that (38) holds even for states with zero-momentum *n*-strings.

B Tri-diagonal form of the coupled integral equations

B.1 Tri-diagonal Bethe-Takahashi equations

Our starting point are the thermodynamic Bethe equations (16). For later convenience we introduce the following notations for the Fourier transform of a function

$$\hat{f}(k) = \mathscr{F}[f](k) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(\lambda) e^{ik\lambda} d\lambda , \qquad (100)$$

$$f(\lambda) = \mathscr{F}^{-1}[\hat{f}](\lambda) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{f}(k) e^{-ik\lambda} \mathrm{d}k \;. \tag{101}$$

We recall that f * g denotes the convolution of two functions, cf. (43). The Fourier transform of $a_n(\lambda)$ defined in (18) is easily computed

$$\hat{a}_n(k) = e^{-\frac{n\bar{c}[k]}{2}}$$
 (102)

Following Ref. [85], we introduce the symbols

$$[nmp] = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } p = |m-n| \text{ or } m+n \\ 2, & \text{if } p = |m-n|+2, |m-n|+4, \dots, m+n-2, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise}. \end{cases}$$
(103)

We can then perform the Fourier transform of both sides of (16) and obtain

$$n\delta(k) - \sum_{m=1} \sum_{p>0} [nmp]\hat{\rho}_m(k)e^{-\frac{\tilde{c}}{2}|k|p} = \hat{\rho}_n^t(k) , \qquad (104)$$

where $\rho_n^t(\lambda)$ are given in (15). We now define

$$\hat{\rho}_{-m}(k) = -\hat{\rho}_{m}(k), \qquad m \ge 1,$$
(105)

$$\hat{\rho}_0(k) = 0 . (106)$$

After straightforward calculations, we can rewrite (104) in the form

$$\hat{\rho}_{n}^{h}(k) = n\delta(k) - \coth\left(\frac{|k|\bar{c}}{2}\right) \sum_{m=-\infty}^{+\infty} e^{-|k||n-m|\frac{\bar{c}}{2}} \hat{\rho}_{m}(k) .$$
(107)

In order to decouple these equations we note that

$$\hat{\rho}_{n+1}^{h}(k) + \hat{\rho}_{n-1}^{h}(k) = 2n\delta(k) - \operatorname{coth}\left(\frac{|k|\overline{c}}{2}\right) \left[-2\hat{\rho}_{n}(k)\operatorname{sinh}\left(\frac{|k|\overline{c}}{2}\right) + 2\operatorname{cosh}\left(\frac{|k|\overline{c}}{2}\right) \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-|k||n-m|\frac{\overline{c}}{2}}\hat{\rho}_{m}(k)\right].$$
(108)

Combining Eqns (107), (108) one obtains

$$\hat{\rho}_{n}^{t}(k) = \frac{1}{2\cosh(|k|\bar{c}/2)} \left(\hat{\rho}_{n+1}^{h}(k) + \hat{\rho}_{n-1}^{h}(k) \right) - n\delta(k) \left[\frac{1 - \cosh\left(\frac{|k|\bar{c}}{2}\right)}{\cosh\left(\frac{|k|\bar{c}}{2}\right)} \right]_{=0} = \frac{1}{2\cosh(|k|\bar{c}/2)} \left(\hat{\rho}_{n+1}^{h}(k) + \hat{\rho}_{n-1}^{h}(k) \right).$$
(109)

We can now perform the inverse Fourier transform. Using

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dk \frac{1}{\cosh\left(k\frac{\bar{c}}{2}\right)} e^{-i\lambda k} = \frac{1}{\bar{c}} \frac{1}{\cosh\left(\frac{\lambda\pi}{\bar{c}}\right)} , \qquad (110)$$

we finally obtain

$$\rho_n(1+\eta_n) = s * (\eta_{n-1}\rho_{n-1} + \eta_{n+1}\rho_{n+1}) \qquad n \ge 1 , \qquad (111)$$

where we can choose $\eta_0(\lambda)\rho_0(\lambda) = \delta(\lambda)$, $\eta_n(\lambda)$ is given in Eq. (14), and where

$$s(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2\overline{c}\cosh\left(\frac{\pi\lambda}{\overline{c}}\right)} \,. \tag{112}$$

Г

B.2 Tri-diagonal oTBA equations

In this appendix we derive the tri-diagonal equations (44) starting from Eqns (42). Our discussion follows Ref. [57]. Some useful identities are [75]

$$(a_0 + a_2) * a_{nm} = a_1 * (a_{n-1,m} + a_{n+1,m}) + (\delta_{n-1,m} + \delta_{n+1,m})a_1, \qquad n \ge 2, \ m \ge 1,$$
(113)

$$(a_0 + a_2) * a_{1m} = a_1 * a_{2,m} + a_1 \delta_{2,m} , \qquad m \ge 1 , \qquad (114)$$

where we define $a_0(\lambda) = \delta(\lambda)$, and where the functions $a_{nm}(\lambda)$, $a_n(\lambda)$ are given in Eqns (17), (18). Convolution of (42) with $(a_0 + a_2)$ gives

$$(a_0 + a_2) * \ln \eta_n = (a_0 + a_2) * g_n - a_1 * (g_{n-1} + g_{n+1}) + a_1 * [\ln(1 + \eta_{n-1}) + \ln(1 + \eta_{n+1})], \quad n \ge 1, \quad (115)$$

where we defined $g_n(\lambda) = -\ln W_n(\lambda)$, $g_0(\lambda) = 0$ and $\eta_0(\lambda) = 0$. The functions $g_n(\lambda)$ can be written as

$$g_n(\lambda) = \ln s_0^{(2)}(\lambda) + \ln s_n^{(2)}(\lambda) + 2\sum_{\ell=1}^{n-1} \ln s_\ell^{(2)}(\lambda) , \qquad (116)$$

where

$$s_{\ell}^{(2)}(\lambda) = s_{\ell}(\lambda)s_{-\ell}(\lambda) = \frac{\lambda^2}{\overline{c}^2} + \frac{\ell^2}{4}$$
 (117)

It is straightforward to show that

$$(a_m * f_r)(\lambda) = f_{m+r}(\lambda), \qquad (118)$$

where we defined

$$f_r(\lambda) = \ln\left[\left(\frac{\lambda}{\overline{c}}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{r}{2}\right)^2\right].$$
(119)

Using (118) and (116), we can rewrite the driving term in (115) as

$$\tilde{d}_n \equiv (a_0 + a_2) * g_n - a_1 * (g_{n-1} + g_{n+1}) = f_0 - f_2 = \ln\left(\frac{\lambda^2}{\overline{c}^2}\right) - \ln\left(\frac{\lambda^2}{\overline{c}^2} + 1\right), \quad (120)$$

which allows us to rewrite the oTBA equations in the form

$$(a_0 + a_2) * \ln \eta_n = \tilde{d}_n + a_1 * [\ln(1 + \eta_{n-1}) + \ln(1 + \eta_{n+1})] .$$
(121)

We note that \tilde{d}_n is in fact independent of *n*. Carrying out the Fourier transform and using that $f_0 - f_2 = (a_0 - a_2) * f_0$ we obtain

$$\mathscr{F}[\ln \eta_{n}] = \frac{1}{1 + e^{-\overline{c}|k|}} (1 - e^{-\overline{c}|k|}) \mathscr{F}[f_{0}] + \frac{1}{1 + e^{-\overline{c}|k|}} e^{-\frac{\overline{c}|k|}{2}} \mathscr{F}[(\ln(1 + \eta_{n-1}) + \ln(1 + \eta_{n+1}))].$$
(122)

The first term on the right hand side simplifies

$$\frac{1}{1 + e^{-\overline{c}|k|}} (1 - e^{-\overline{c}|k|}) \mathscr{F}[f_0] = -2\pi \frac{\tanh(\overline{c}k/2)}{k} .$$
(123)

Finally, taking the inverse Fourier transform of (122), using (110) as well as

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dk e^{-ik\lambda} \frac{\tanh(\bar{c}k/2)}{k} = -\ln\left[\tanh^2\left(\frac{\pi\lambda}{2\bar{c}}\right)\right],$$
(124)

we arrive at the desired tri-diagonal form of the oTBA equations

$$\ln(\eta_n) = d + s * [\ln(1 + \eta_{n-1}) + \ln(1 + \eta_{n+1})], \qquad n \ge 1,$$
(125)

$$\eta_0(\lambda) = 0 . \tag{126}$$

Here $s(\lambda)$ is given by Eq. (112) and

$$d(\lambda) = \ln\left[\tanh^2\left(\frac{\pi\lambda}{2\bar{c}}\right)\right].$$
(127)

C Asymptotic behaviour

In this appendix we derive the asymptotic condition (47) for the tri-diagonal equations (44). Our derivation closely follows the finite temperature case [75]. We start from Eq. (42) for n = 1

$$\ln \eta_1(\lambda) = -2h + (f_0 + f_1) + a_2 * \ln(1 + \eta_1^{-1}) + \sum_{m=2}^{+\infty} (a_{m-1} + a_{m+1}) * \ln(1 + \eta_m^{-1}) , \quad (128)$$

where $f_r = f_r(\lambda)$ is defined in (119). We use now the following identities, which are easily derived from (118), (120), (121)

$$a_{2} * \ln(1 + \eta_{1}^{-1}) = a_{2} * \ln(1 + \eta_{1}) - a_{2} * \ln \eta_{1} = a_{2} * \ln(1 + \eta_{1}) - f_{0} + f_{2} - a_{1} * \ln(1 + \eta_{2}) + \ln \eta_{1}.$$
 (129)

Using (129) we can recast (128) in the form

$$-2h + a_1 * (f_0 + f_1) = a_1 * \ln \eta_2 - a_2 * \ln(1 + \eta_1) - a_3 * \ln(1 + \eta_2^{-1}) - \sum_{m=3}^{+\infty} (a_{m-1} + a_{m+1}) * \ln(1 + \eta_m^{-1}).$$
(130)

To proceed, we write

$$\sum_{m=3}^{+\infty} (a_{m-1} + a_{m+1}) * \ln(1 + \eta_m^{-1}) = (a_2 + a_4) * \ln(1 + \eta_3^{-1}) + \sum_{m=4}^{+\infty} (a_{m-1} + a_{m+1}) * \ln(1 + \eta_m^{-1}). \quad (131)$$

After rewriting the first term on the right hand side, we substitute back into (130) to obtain

$$-2h + a_2 * (f_0 + f_1) = a_2 * \ln \eta_3 - a_3 * \ln(1 + \eta_2) - a_4 * \ln(1 + \eta_3^{-1}) - \sum_{m=4}^{+\infty} (a_{m-1} + a_{m+1}) * \ln(1 + \eta_m^{-1}).$$
(132)

Iterating the above procedure n times we arrive at

$$-2h + a_n * (f_0 + f_1) = a_n * \ln \eta_{n+1} - a_{n+1} * \ln(1 + \eta_n) - a_{n+2} * \ln(1 + \eta_{n+1}^{-1}) - \sum_{m=n+2}^{+\infty} (a_{m-1} + a_{m+1}) * \ln(1 + \eta_m^{-1}).$$
(133)

Fourier transforming and using the definition for f_r given in (119) we obtain

$$\ln \eta_{n+1} = -2h + \ln \left[\frac{\lambda}{\overline{c}} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{\overline{c}^2} + \frac{1}{4} \right) \right] + a_1 * \ln \eta_n$$

+ $a_1 * \ln(1 + \eta_n^{-1}) + a_2 * \ln(1 + \eta_{n+1}^{-1}) + \sum_{m=2}^{+\infty} (a_{m-1} + a_{m+1}) * \ln(1 + \eta_{m+n}^{-1}).$ (134)

Assuming that $\eta_n^{-1}(\lambda)$ is vanishing sufficiently fast as $n \to \infty$ for a generic (and fixed) value of λ , we can drop the infinite sum and the two previous terms, and arrive at Eq. (47).

D Perturbative analysis

In this appendix we sketch the calculations leading to the expansion (63). Throughout this appendix we work with the dimensionless variable $x = \lambda/\bar{c}$. At the lowest order, it follows from Eq. (62) that

$$\varphi_1(x) = \frac{\tau^2}{x^2 \left(x^2 + \frac{1}{4}\right)} + \mathcal{O}(\tau^3).$$
(135)

Since $\varphi_n(x) \propto \tau^{2n}$, we can neglect $\varphi_n(x)$ with $n \ge 2$ to compute the third order expansion of $\varphi_1(x)$. Hence, the infinite sum in (59) for n = 1 can be truncated, at third order in τ , to the first term (m = 1), where we can use the expansion (135) for $\varphi_1(\lambda)$. Following Ref. [51] one can then use identity (118) to perform the convolution integral and finally obtain

$$\varphi_1(x) = \frac{\tau^2}{x^2 \left(x^2 + \frac{1}{4}\right)} \left(1 - \frac{4\tau}{x^2 + 1}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\tau^4).$$
(136)

One can then perform the same steps for higher order corrections, at each stage of the calculation keeping all the relevant terms. For example, already at the fourth order in τ of $\varphi_1(x)$ one cannot neglect the lowest order contribution coming from $\varphi_2(x)$ in the r.h.s. of Eq. (59). For higher orders one also has to consider corrections to $\varphi_n(x)$ with $n \ge 2$.

E Small γ limit for g_2

In this appendix we prove that

$$\lim_{\gamma \to 0} g_2(\gamma) = 2 . \tag{137}$$

Our starting point is Eqn (86). Rescaling variables by

$$\hat{b}_m(x) = \sqrt{\gamma} b_m\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\right), \qquad \hat{\eta}_n(x) = \tilde{\eta}_n\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\right), \qquad (138)$$

we have

$$g_{2} = 2 + \sqrt{\gamma} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \left[2mx \hat{b}_{m}(x) \frac{1}{1 + \hat{\eta}_{m}(x)} \right].$$
(139)

The functions $\hat{b}_n(x)$ satisfy the coupled nonlinear integral equations

$$\hat{b}_n(x) = nx - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dy \ \frac{1}{1 + \hat{\eta}_m(y)} \hat{b}_m(y) \hat{a}_{nm}(x - y) , \qquad (140)$$

where

$$\hat{a}_{nm}(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \tilde{a}_{nm}\left(\frac{x}{\gamma}\right).$$
(141)

Our goal is to determine the limit

$$\lim_{\gamma \to 0} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \left[2mx \hat{b}_m(x) \frac{1}{1 + \hat{\eta}_m(x)} \right]. \tag{142}$$

The calculation is non-trivial as we cannot exchange the infinite sum with the limit. However, based on numerical evidence we claim that this limit is finite, and (137) then immediately follows from (139).

Note that the numerical computation of $g_2(\gamma)$ is increasingly demanding as $\gamma \to 0$, due to the fact that more and more strings contribute. Accordingly, the infinite systems (83) and (84) have to be truncated to a larger number of equations and the numerical computation takes more time to provide precise results. We were able to numerically compute $g_2(\gamma)$ for decreasing values of γ down to $\gamma = 0.025$ where $g_2(0.025) \simeq 2.11$ and approximately 30 strings contributed to the computation. We fitted the numerical data for small γ with $G(\gamma) = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 \sqrt{\gamma}$ and we correctly found $\alpha_1 = 2$ within the numerical error.

References

- I. Bloch, J. Dalibard and W. Zwerger, *Many-body physics with ultracold gases*, Rev. Mod. Phys. 80, 885 (2008), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.80.885.
- [2] A. Polkovnikov, K. Sengupta, A. Silva and M. Vengalattore, *Colloquium: Nonequilib*rium dynamics of closed interacting quantum systems, Rev. Mod. Phys. 83, 863 (2011), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.83.863.
- [3] M. A. Cazalilla, R. Citro, T. Giamarchi, E. Orignac and M. Rigol, One dimensional bosons: From condensed matter systems to ultracold gases, Rev. Mod. Phys. 83, 1405 (2011), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.83.1405.
- [4] T. Kinoshita, T. Wenger and D. S. Weiss, A quantum Newton's cradle, Nature 440, 900 (2006), doi:10.1038/nature04693.
- [5] M. Cheneau, P. Barmettler, D. Poletti, M. Endres, P. Schauß, T. Fukuhara, C. Gross, I. Bloch, C. Kollath and S. Kuhr, *Light-cone-like spreading of correlations in a quantum many-body system*, Nature 481, 484 (2012), doi:10.1038/nature10748.
- [6] M. Gring, M. Kuhnert, T. Langen, T. Kitagawa, B. Rauer, M. Schreitl, I. Mazets, D. A. Smith, E. Demler and J. Schmiedmayer, *Relaxation and Prethermalization in an isolated quantum system*, Science 337, 1318 (2012), doi:10.1126/science.1224953.
- [7] S. Trotzky, Y.-A. Chen, A. Flesch, I. P. McCulloch, U. Schollwöck, J. Eisert and I. Bloch, Probing the relaxation towards equilibrium in an isolated strongly correlated onedimensional Bose gas, Nature Phys. 8, 325 (2012), doi:10.1038/nphys2232.
- [8] T. Fukuhara, P. Schauß, M. Endres, S. Hild, M. Cheneau, I. Bloch and C. Gross, *Microscopic observation of magnon bound states and their dynamics*, Nature 502, 76 (2013), doi:10.1038/nature12541.

- [9] T. Langen, R. Geiger, M. Kuhnert, B. Rauer and J. Schmiedmayer, *Local emergence of thermal correlations in an isolated quantum many-body system*, Nature Phys. 9, 640 (2013), doi:10.1038/nphys2739.
- [10] K. Agarwal, E. G. Dalla Torre, B. Rauer, T. Langen, J. Schmiedmayer and E. Demler, *Chiral prethermalization in supersonically split condensates*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113**, 190401 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.190401.
- [11] R. Geiger, T. Langen, I. E. Mazets and J. Schmiedmayer, Local relaxation and light-conelike propagation of correlations in a trapped one-dimensional Bose gas, New J. Phys. 16, 053034 (2014), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/16/5/053034.
- [12] T. Langen, S. Erne, R. Geiger, B. Rauer, T. Schweigler, M. Kuhnert, W. Rohringer, I. E. Mazets, T. Gasenzer and J. Schmiedmayer, *Experimental observation of a generalized Gibbs ensemble*, Science **348**, 207 (2015), doi:10.1126/science.1257026.
- [13] A. M. Kaufman, M. E. Tai, A. Lukin, M. Rispoli, R. Schittko, P. M. Preiss and M. Greiner, *Quantum thermalization through entanglement in an isolated many-body system*, Science 353, 794 (2016), doi:10.1126/science.aaf6725.
- [14] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, *Time dependence of correlation functions following a quantum quench*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **96**, 136801 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.96.136801;
 P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, *Evolution of entanglement entropy in one-dimensional systems*, J. Stat. Mech. P04010 (2005), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2005/04/P04010;
 P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, *Quantum quenches in extended systems*, J. Stat. Mech. P06008 (2007), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2007/06/P06008.
- [15] J. Eisert, M. Friesdorf and C. Gogolin, *Quantum many-body systems out of equilibrium*, Nature Phys. **11**, 124 (2015), doi:10.1038/nphys3215.
- [16] L. D'Alessio, Y. Kafri, A. Polkovnikov and M. Rigol, From quantum chaos and eigenstate thermalization to statistical mechanics and thermodynamics, Adv. Phys. 65, 239 (2016), doi:10.1080/00018732.2016.1198134.
- [17] E. Altman, Non equilibrium quantum dynamics in ultra-cold quantum gases, arXiv:1512.00870.
- [18] C. Gogolin and J. Eisert, Equilibration, thermalisation, and the emergence of statistical mechanics in closed quantum systems, Rep. Prog. Phys. 79, 056001 (2016), doi:10.1088/0034-4885/79/5/056001.
- [19] F. H. L. Essler and M. Fagotti, Quench dynamics and relaxation in isolated integrable quantum spin chains, J. Stat. Mech. 064002 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/06/064002.
- [20] J.-S. Caux, The Quench Action, J. Stat. Mech. 064006 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/06/064006.
- [21] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, *Quantum quenches in 1 + 1 dimensional conformal field theories*, J. Stat. Mech. 064003 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/06/064003.
- [22] J. M. Deutsch, Quantum statistical mechanics in a closed system, Phys. Rev. A 43, 2046 (1991), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.43.2046;
 M. Srednicki, Chaos and quantum thermalization, Phys. Rev. E 50, 888 (1994), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.50.888;

M. Rigol, V. Dunjko and M. Olshanii, *Thermalization and its mechanism for generic isolated quantum systems*, Nature **452**, 854 (2008), doi:10.1038/nature06838;

M. Rigol, *Breakdown of thermalization in finite one-dimensional systems*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **103**, 100403 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.100403;

M. Rigol and M. Fitzpatrick, Initial-state dependence of the quench dynamics in integrable quantum systems, Phys. Rev. A 84, 033640 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.84.033640; M. C. Banuls, J. I. Cirac and M. B. Hastings, Strong and weak thermalization of infinite non-integrable quantum systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 050405 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.050405;

K. He and M. Rigol, Initial state dependence of the quench dynamics in integrable quantum systems II: Thermal state, Phys. Rev. A **85**, 063609 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.85.063609;

G. P. Brandino, A. De Luca, R.M. Konik and G. Mussardo, *Quench dynamics in randomly generated extended quantum models*, Phys. Rev. B **85**, 214435 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.85.214435;

J. Sirker, N.P. Konstantinidis and N. Sedlmayr, *Locality and thermalization in closed quantum systems*, Phys. Rev. A **89**, 042104 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.89.042104.

- [23] M. Rigol, V. Dunjko, V. Yurovsky and M. Olshanii, Relaxation in a completely integrable many-body quantum system: An ab initio study of the dynamics of the highly excited states of 1D lattice hard-core bosons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 050405 (2007), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.050405.
- [24] P. Calabrese, F. H. L. Essler and M. Fagotti, *Quantum quench in the transverse field Ising chain*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **106**, 227203 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.227203;
 P. Calabrese, F. H. L. Essler and M. Fagotti, *Quantum quench in the transverse field Ising chain II: Stationary state properties*, J. Stat. Mech. P07022 (2012), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2012/07/P07022.
- [25] J.-S. Caux and R. M. Konik, *Constructing the Generalized Gibbs Ensemble after a quantum quench*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **109**, 175301 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.109.175301.
- M. Fagotti and F. H.L. Essler, *Reduced density matrix after a quantum quench*, Phys. Rev. B 87, 245107 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.87.245107.
- [27] B. Pozsgay, Generalized Gibbs Ensemble for Heisenberg spin chains, J. Stat. Mech. P07003 (2013), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2013/07/P07003.
- [28] M. Fagotti and F. H. L. Essler, Stationary behaviour of observables after a quantum quench in the spin-1/2 Heisenberg XXZ chain, J. Stat. Mech. P07012 (2013), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2013/07/P07012.
- [29] M. Kormos, A. Shashi, Y.-Z. Chou, J.-S. Caux and A. Imambekov, Interaction quenches in the one-dimensional Bose gas, Phys. Rev. B 88, 205131 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.88.205131.
- [30] M. Fagotti, M. Collura, F. H. L. Essler and P. Calabrese, *Relaxation after quantum quenches in the spin-1/2 Heisenberg XXZ chain*, Phys. Rev. B 89, 125101 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.89.125101.
- [31] T. Prosen, Open XXZ Spin Chain: Nonequilibrium steady state and a strict bound on ballistic transport, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 217206 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.217206.

- [32] T. Prosen and E. Ilievski, Families of quasilocal conservation laws and quantum spin transport, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 057203 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.057203.
- [33] T. Prosen, Quasilocal conservation laws in XXZ spin-1/2 chains: Open, periodic and twisted boundary conditions, Nucl. Phys. B 886, 1177 (2014), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2014.07.024.
- [34] R. G. Pereira, V. Pasquier, J. Sirker and I. Affleck, Exactly conserved quasilocal operators for the XXZ spin chain, J. Stat. Mech. P09037 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/09/P09037.
- [35] M. Fagotti, On conservation laws, relaxation and pre-relaxation after a quantum quench, J. Stat. Mech. P03016 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/03/P03016.
- [36] E. Ilievski, M. Medenjak and T. Prosen, Quasilocal conserved operators in the isotropic Heisenberg spin-1/2 chain, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 120601 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.120601.
- [37] B. Doyon, Thermalization and pseudolocality in extended quantum systems, arXiv:1512.03713.
- [38] L. Zadnik, M. Medenjak and T. Prosen, Quasilocal conservation laws from semicyclic irreducible representations of in XXZ spin-1/2 chains, Nucl. Phys. B 902, 339 (2016), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2015.11.023.
- [39] L. Piroli and E. Vernier, Quasi-local conserved charges and spin transport in spin-1 integrable chains, J. Stat. Mech. 053106 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/05/053106.
- [40] M. Fagotti, Local conservation laws in spin- 1/2 XY chains with open boundary conditions, J. Stat. Mech. 063105 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/06/063105.
- [41] E. Ilievski, M. Medenjak, T. Prosen and L. Zadnik, *Quasilocal charges in integrable lattice systems*, J. Stat. Mech. 064008 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/06/064008.
- [42] V. E. Korepin, N. M. Bogoliubov and A. G. Izergin, *Quantum inverse scattering method and correlation functions*, Cambridge University Press (1993).
- [43] M. Mierzejewski, P. Prelovšek and T. Prosen, Breakdown of the Generalized Gibbs Ensemble for current-generating quenches, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113, 020602 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.020602.
- [44] E. Ilievski, J. De Nardis, B. Wouters, J.-S. Caux, F. H. L. Essler and T. Prosen, Complete Generalized Gibbs Ensembles in an interacting theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115, 157201 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.157201.
- [45] E. Ilievski, E. Quinn, J. D. Nardis and M. Brockmann, *String-charge duality* in integrable lattice models, J. Stat. Mech. 063101 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/06/063101.
- [46] B. Bertini and M. Fagotti, Pre-relaxation in weakly interacting models, J. Stat. Mech. P07012 (2015), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2015/07/P07012.
- [47] M. Fagotti and M. Collura, Universal prethermalization dynamics of entanglement entropies after a global quench, arXiv:1507.02678.

- [48] F. H. L. Essler, G. Mussardo and M. Panfil, Generalized Gibbs ensembles for quantum field theories, Phys. Rev. A 91, 051602 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.91.051602.
- [49] J. Cardy, Quantum Quenches to a critical point in one dimension: some further results, J. Stat. Mech. 023103 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/02/023103.
- [50] J.-S. Caux and F. H. L. Essler, *Time evolution of local observables after quenching to an integrable model*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **110**, 257203 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.257203.
- [51] J. De Nardis, B. Wouters, M. Brockmann and J.-S. Caux, Solution for an interaction quench in the Lieb-Liniger Bose gas, Phys. Rev. A 89, 033601 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.89.033601.
- [52] J. De Nardis and J.-S. Caux, Analytical expression for a post-quench time evolution of the one-body density matrix of one-dimensional hard-core bosons, J. Stat. Mech. P12012 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/12/P12012.
- [53] J. De Nardis, L. Piroli and J.-S. Caux, Relaxation dynamics of local observables in integrable systems, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 48, 43FT01 (2015), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/48/43/43FT01.
- [54] R. van den Berg, B. Wouters, S. Eliëns, J. De Nardis, R. M. Konik and J.-S. Caux, Separation of time scales in a quantum Newton's cradle, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 225302 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.225302.
- [55] L. Bucciantini, Stationary state after a quench to the Lieb–Liniger from rotating BECs, J. Stat. Phys. 164, 621 (2016), doi:10.1007/s10955-016-1535-7.
- [56] L. Piroli, P. Calabrese and F. H. L. Essler, Multiparticle bound-state formation following a quantum quench to the one-dimensional Bose gas with attractive interactions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 070408 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.070408.
- [57] B. Wouters, J. De Nardis, M. Brockmann, D. Fioretto, M. Rigol and J.-S. Caux, Quenching the anisotropic Heisenberg chain: Exact solution and Generalized Gibbs Ensemble predictions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113, 117202 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.117202.
- [58] M. Brockmann, B. Wouters, D. Fioretto, J. De Nardis, R. Vlijm and J.-S. Caux, Quench action approach for releasing the Néel state into the spin-1/2 XXZ chain, J. Stat. Mech. P12009 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/12/P12009.
- [59] B. Pozsgay, M. Mestyán, M. A. Werner, M. Kormos, G. Zaránd and G. Takács, *Correlations after quantum quenches in the XXZ spin chain: failure of the Generalized Gibbs Ensemble*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113**, 117203 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.117203.
- [60] M. Mestyán, B. Pozsgay, G. Takács and M. A. Werner, Quenching the XXZ spin chain: quench action approach versus generalized Gibbs ensemble, J. Stat. Mech. P04001 (2015), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2015/04/P04001.
- [61] A. De Luca, G. Martelloni and J. Viti, Stationary states in a free fermionic chain from the quench action method, Phys. Rev. A 91, 021603 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.91.021603.
- [62] B. Bertini, D. Schuricht and F. H. L. Essler, *Quantum quench in the sine-Gordon model*, J. Stat. Mech. P10035 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/10/P10035.

- [63] B. Bertini, L. Piroli and P. Calabrese, Quantum quenches in the sinh-Gordon model: steady state and one-point correlation functions, J. Stat. Mech. 063102 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/06/063102.
- [64] G. E. Astrakharchik, J. Boronat, J. Casulleras and S. Giorgini, Beyond the Tonks-Girardeau gas: strongly correlated regime in quasi-one-dimensional Bose gases, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 190407 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.95.190407.
- [65] M. T. Batchelor, M. Bortz, X. W. Guan and N. Oelkers, Evidence for the super Tonks-Girardeau gas, J. Stat. Mech. L10001 (2005), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2005/10/L10001;
 S. Chen, L. Guan, X. Yin, Y. Hao and X.-W. Guan, Transition from a Tonks-Girardeau gas to a super-Tonks-Girardeau gas as an exact many-body dynamics problem, Phys. Rev. A 81, 031609 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.81.031609.
- [66] E. Haller, M. Gustavsson, M. J. Mark, J. G. Danzl, R. Hart, G. Pupillo and H.-C. Nägerl, *Realization of an excited, strongly correlated quantum gas phase*, Science **325**, 1224 (2009), doi:10.1126/science.1175850.
- [67] D. Muth and M. Fleischhauer, Dynamics of pair correlations in the attractive Lieb-Liniger gas, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 150403 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.105.150403.
- [68] M. Kormos, G. Mussardo and A. Trombettoni, Local correlations in the super-Tonks-Girardeau gas, Phys. Rev. A 83, 013617 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.83.013617.
- [69] M. Panfil, J. De Nardis and J.-S. Caux, Metastable criticality and the super Tonks-Girardeau gas, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 125302 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.125302.
- [70] W. Tschischik and M. Haque, Repulsive-to-attractive interaction quenches of a onedimensional Bose gas in a harmonic trap, Phys. Rev. A 91, 053607 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.91.053607.
- [71] M. Ganahl, E. Rabel, F. H. L. Essler and H. G. Evertz, Observation of complex bound states in the spin-1/2 Heisenberg XXZ chain using local quantum quenches, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 077206 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.108.077206.
- [72] E. Lieb and W. Liniger, Exact analysis of an interacting Bose gas. I. The general solution and the ground state, Phys. Rev. 130, 1605 (1963), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.130.1605;
 E. Lieb, Exact analysis of an interacting Bose gas. II. The excitation spectrum, Phys. Rev. 130, 1616 (1963), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.130.1616.
- [73] M. Olshanii, Atomic scattering in the presence of an external confinement and a gas of impenetrable Bosons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81, 938 (1998), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.81.938.
- [74] S. Inouye, M. R. Andrews, J. Stenger, H.-J. Miesner, D. M. Stamper-Kurn and W. Ketterle, Observation of Feshbach resonances in a Bose–Einstein condensate, Nature 392, 151 (1998), doi:10.1038/32354.
- [75] M. Takahashi, *Thermodynamics of one-dimensional solvable models*, Cambridge University Press (1999).
- [76] P. Calabrese and J.-S. Caux, *Correlation functions of the one-dimensional attractive Bose gas*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **98**, 150403 (2007), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.150403;
 P. Calabrese and J.-S. Caux, *Dynamics of the attractive 1D Bose gas: analytical*

treatment from integrability, J. of Stat. Mech. P08032 (2007), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2007/08/P08032.

- [77] H. B. Thacker, Exact integrability in quantum field theory and statistical systems, Rev. Mod. Phys. 53, 253 (1981), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.53.253.
- [78] K. Sakmann, A. Streltsov, O. Alon and L. Cederbaum, Exact ground state of finite Bose-Einstein condensates on a ring, Phys. Rev. A 72, 033613 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.72.033613.
- [79] A. G. Sykes, P. D. Drummond and M. J. Davis, Excitation spectrum of bosons in a finite one-dimensional circular waveguide via the Bethe ansatz, Phys. Rev. A 76, 063620 (2007), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.72.033613.
- [80] A. A. Vladimirov, Non-string two-magnon configurations in the isotropic Heisenberg magnet, Phys. Lett. A 105, 418 (1984), doi:10.1016/0375-9601(84)90720-5.
- [81] F. H. L. Essler, V. E. Korepin and K. Schoutens, Fine structure of the Bethe ansatz for the spin-1/2 Heisenberg XXX model, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 25, 4115 (1992), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/25/15/019.
- [82] A. Ilakovac, M. Kolanović, S. Pallua and P. Prester, Violation of the string hypothesis and the Heisenberg XXZ spin chain, Phys. Rev. B 60, 7271 (1999), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.60.7271.
- [83] T. Fujita, T. Kobayashi and H. Takahashi, Large-N behaviour of string solutions in the Heisenberg model, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 36, 1553 (2003), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/36/6/302.
- [84] R. Hagemans and J.-S. Caux, *Deformed strings in the Heisenberg model*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 40, 14605 (2007), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/40/49/001.
- [85] M. Gaudin, *La fonction d'onde de Bethe*, Masson (1983); M. Gaudin (translated by J.-S. Caux), *The Bethe wavefunction*, Cambridge University Press (2014).
- [86] C. N. Yang and C. P. Yang, Thermodynamics of a one-dimensional system of Bosons with repulsive delta-function interaction, J. Math. Phys. 10, 1115 (1969), doi:10.1063/1.1664947.
- [87] J. B. McGuire, *Study of exactly soluble one-dimensional N-body problems*, J. Math. Phys. 5, 622 (1964), doi:10.1063/1.1704156.
- [88] F. Calogero and A. De Gasperis, Comparison between the exact and Hartree solutions of a one-dimensional many-body problem, Phys. Rev. A 11, 265 (1975), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.11.265.
- [89] M. Kormos, M. Collura and P. Calabrese, Analytic results for a quantum quench from free to hard-core one-dimensional bosons, Phys. Rev. A 89, 013609 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.89.013609;
 M. Collura, M. Kormos and P. Calabrese, Stationary entanglement entropies following an interaction quench in 1D Bose gas, J. Stat. Mech. P01009 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/01/P01009.
- [90] V. Gritsev, T. Rostunov and E. Demler, Exact methods in the analysis of the nonequilibrium dynamics of integrable models: application to the study of correlation functions for non-equilibrium 1D Bose gas, J. Stat. Mech. P05012 (2010), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2010/05/P05012.

- [91] J. C. Zill, T. M. Wright, K. V. Kheruntsyan, T. Gasenzer and M. J. Davis, *Relaxation dynamics of the Lieb-Liniger gas following an interaction quench: A coordinate Bethe-ansatz analysis*, Phys. Rev. A 91, 023611 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.91.023611;
 J. C. Zill, T. M. Wright, K. V. Kheruntsyan, T. Gasenzer and M. J. Davis, *A coordinate Bethe ansatz approach to the calculation of equilibrium and nonequilibrium correlations of the one-dimensional Bose gas*, New J. Phys. 18, 045010 (2016), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/18/4/045010.
- [92] G. Goldstein and N. Andrei, Equilibration and generalized Gibbs ensemble for hard wall boundary conditions, Phys. Rev. B 92, 155103 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.92.155103.
- [93] G. Mussardo, Infinite-time average of local fields in an integrable quantum field theory after a quantum quench, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 100401 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.100401.
- [94] M. Collura, S. Sotiriadis and P. Calabrese, Equilibration of a Tonks-Girardeau gas following a trap release, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 245301 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.245301;
 M. Collura, S. Sotiriadis and P. Calabrese, Quench dynamics of a Tonks-Girardeau gas released from a harmonic trap, J. Stat. Mech. P09025 (2013), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2013/09/P09025.
- [95] J. Mossel and J.-S. Caux, Exact time evolution of space- and time-dependent correlation functions after an interaction quench in the one-dimensional Bose gas, New J. Phys. 14, 075006 (2012), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/14/7/075006.
- [96] D. Iyer and N. Andrei, *Quench dynamics of the interacting Bose gas in one dimension*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **109**, 115304 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.109.115304;
 D. Iyer, H. Guan, and N. Andrei. Exact formalism for the quench dynamics of integrable models. Phys. Rev. A **87**, 053628 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.87.053628.
- [97] G. Goldstein and N. Andrei, *Quench between a Mott insulator and a Lieb-Liniger liquid*, Phys. Rev. A **90**, 043626 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.90.043626.
- [98] S. Sotiriadis and P. Calabrese, Validity of the GGE for quantum quenches from interacting to noninteracting models, J. Stat. Mech. P07024 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/07/P07024.
- [99] P. P. Mazza, M. Collura, M. Kormos and P. Calabrese, *Interaction quench in a trapped 1D Bose gas*, J. Stat. Mech. P11016 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/11/P11016.
- [100] F. Franchini, A. Gromov, M. Kulkarni and A. Trombettoni, Universal dynamics of a soliton after an interaction quench, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 48, 28FT01 (2015), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/48/28/28FT01;
 F. Franchini, M. Kulkarni and A. Trombettoni, Hydrodynamics of local excitations after an interaction quench in 1D cold atomic gases, arXiv:1603.03051.
- [101] S. Campbell, M. Á. García-March, T. Fogarty and T. Busch, Quenching small quantum gases: Genesis of the orthogonality catastrophe, Phys. Rev. A 90, 013617 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.90.013617.
- [102] M. Á. García-March, T. Fogarty, S. Campbell, T. Busch and M. Paternostro, *Non-equilibrium thermodynamics of harmonically trapped Bosons*, arXiv:1604.03378.

- [103] J. Mossel, G. Palacios and J.-S. Caux, *Geometric quenches in quantum integrable systems*, J. Stat. Mech. L09001 (2010), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2010/09/L09001;
 J. Mossel and J.-S. Caux, *Relaxation dynamics in the gapped XXZ spin-1/2 chain*, New J. of Phy. **12**, 055028 (2010), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/12/5/055028.
- [104] K. K. Kozlowski and B. Pozsgay, Surface free energy of the open XXZ spin-1/2 chain, J. Stat. Mech. P05021 (2012), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2012/05/P05021;
 B. Pozsgay, Overlaps between eigenstates of the XXZ spin-1/2 chain and a class of simple product states, J. Stat. Mech. P06011 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/06/P06011.
- [105] M. Brockmann, J. D. Nardis, B. Wouters and J.-S. Caux, A Gaudin-like determinant for overlaps of Néel and XXZ Bethe states, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 47, 145003 (2014), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/47/14/145003;
 M. Brockmann, J. De Nardis, B. Wouters and J.-S. Caux, Néel-XXZ state overlaps: odd particle numbers and Lieb–Liniger scaling limit, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 47, 345003 (2014), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/47/34/345003.
- [106] M. Brockmann, Overlaps of q-raised Néel states with XXZ Bethe states and their relation to the Lieb–Liniger Bose gas, J. Stat. Mech. P05006 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/05/P05006.
- [107] L. Piroli and P. Calabrese, Recursive formulas for the overlaps between Bethe states and product states in XXZ Heisenberg chains, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 47, 385003 (2014), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/47/38/385003.
- [108] D. X. Horváth, S. Sotiriadis and G. Takács, Initial states in integrable quantum field theory quenches from an integral equation hierarchy, Nucl. Phys. B 902, 508 (2016), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2015.11.025.
- [109] P. P. Mazza, J.-M. Stéphan, E. Canovi, V. Alba, M. Brockmann and M. Haque, Overlap distributions for quantum quenches in the anisotropic Heisenberg chain, J. Stat. Mech. 013104 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/01/013104.
- [110] O. Foda and K. Zarembo, Overlaps of partial Néel states and Bethe states, J. Stat. Mech. 023107 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/02/023107.
- [111] P. Calabrese and P. Le Doussal, Interaction quench in a Lieb-Liniger model and the KPZ equation with flat initial conditions, J. Stat. Mech. P05004 (2014); doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/05/P05004
 P. Le Doussal and P. Calabrese, The KPZ equation with flat initial condition and the directed polymer with one free end, J. Stat. Mech. P06001 (2012), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2012/06/P06001.
- [112] V. Alba and P. Calabrese, The quench action approach in finite integrable spin chains, J. Stat. Mech. 043105 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/04/043105.
- [113] J. Suzuki, Spinons in magnetic chains of arbitrary spins at finite temperatures, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 32, 2341 (1999), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/32/12/008.
- [114] A. Klümper and P. A. Pearce, *Conformal weights of RSOS lattice models and their fusion hierarchies*, Physica A **183**, 304 (1992), doi:10.1016/0378-4371(92)90149-K.

- [115] N. A. Slavnov, Nonequal-time current correlation function in a one-dimensional Bose gas, Theor. Math. Phys. 82, 273 (1990), doi:10.1007/BF01029221;
 T. Kojima, V. E. Korepin and N. A. Slavnov, Determinant representation for dynamical correlation functions of the quantum nonlinear Schrödinger equation, Comm. Math. Phys. 188, 657 (1997), doi:10.1007/s002200050182.
- [116] J.-S. Caux, P. Calabrese and N. A. Slavnov, One-particle dynamical correlations in the one-dimensional Bose gas, J. Stat. Mech. P01008 (2007), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2007/01/P01008.
- [117] B. Pozsgay, Local correlations in the 1D Bose gas from a scaling limit of the XXZ chain, J. Stat. Mech. P11017 (2011), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2011/11/P11017.
- [118] L. Piroli and P. Calabrese, Exact formulas for the form factors of local operators in the Lieb-Liniger model, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 48, 454002 (2015), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/48/45/454002.
- [119] D. M. Gangardt and G. V. Shlyapnikov, *Stability and phase coherence of trapped 1D Bose gases*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **90**, 010401 (2003), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.90.010401;
 D. M. Gangardt and G. V. Shlyapnikov, *Local correlations in a strongly interacting one-dimensional Bose gas*, New J. Phys. **5**, 79 (2003), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/5/1/379.
- [120] K. V. Kheruntsyan, D. M. Gangardt, P. D. Drummond and G. V. Shlyapnikov, Pair correlations in a finite-temperature 1D Bose gas, Phys. Rev. Lett. 91, 040403 (2003), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.91.040403.
- [121] M. Kormos, G. Mussardo and A. Trombettoni, *Expectation values in the Lieb-Liniger Bose gas*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **103**, 210404 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.210404;
 M. Kormos, G. Mussardo and A. Trombettoni, *One-dimensional Lieb-Liniger Bose gas as nonrelativistic limit of the sinh-Gordon model*, Phys. Rev. A **81**, 043606 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.81.043606.
- [122] M. Kormos, Y.-Z. Chou and A. Imambekov, Exact three-body local correlations for excited states of the 1D Bose Gas, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107, 230405 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.107.230405.
- [123] E. Nandani, R. A. Römer, S. Tan and X.-W. Guan, Higher-order local and non-local correlations for 1D strongly interacting Bose gas, New J. Phys. 18, 055014 (2016), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/18/5/055014.
- M. Mestyán and B. Pozsgay, Short distance correlators in the XXZ spin chain for arbitrary string distributions, J. Stat. Mech. P09020 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/09/P09020.
- [125] B. Laburthe Tolra, K. M. O'Hara, J. H. Huckans, W. D. Phillips, S. L. Rolston and J. V. Porto, Observation of Reduced Three-Body Recombination in a Correlated 1D Degenerate Bose Gas, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 190401 (2004), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.92.190401.
- [126] B. Davies, Higher conservation laws for the quantum non-linear Schrödinger equation, Physica A 167, 433 (1990), doi:10.1016/0378-4371(90)90126-D;
 B. Davies and V. E. Korepin, Higher conservation laws for the quantum non-linear Schrödinger equation, arXiv:1109.6604.